INCYTE CORP Form S-3 November 21, 2006

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 21, 2006.

Registration No. 333-

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public:

Washington, D.C. 20549	
FORM S-3	
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933	
INCYTE CORPORATION	
(Exact Name of registrant as Specified in Its Charter)	
Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) Incyte Corporation Experimental Station Route 141 & Henry Clay Road Building E336 Wilmington, DE 19880 (302) 498-6700	94-3136539 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)
(Address, Including Zip Code, and Telephone Number, Including	
Area Code, of Registrant s Principal Executive Offices)	
Paul A. Friedman Chief Executive Officer Incyte Corporation Experimental Station Route 141 & Henry Clay Road Building E336 Wilmington, DE 19880 (302) 498-6700	
(Name, Address, Including Zip Code, and Telephone Number, Including Area Code, of Agent for Service	ce)
With copy to:	
Stanton D. Wong Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP P.O. Box 7880 San Francisco, CA 94120 Telephone: (415) 983-1000	

From time to time after this registration statement becomes effective, as determined by market conditions and other factors.

If the only securities being registered on this form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box. o

If any of the securities being registered on this form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box. x

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box. o

If this form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box. o

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

		maximum		maxim		
Title of each class of securities to be	Amount to be	offering pri	ice per	aggreg	ate	Amount of
registered	registered	unit		offerin	g price(1)	registration fee
31/2% Convertible Senior Notes due 2011(2)	\$151,800,000	100	%	\$	151,800,000	\$ 16,243
Common Stock, \$.001 par value(3)	13,531,224					
	shares	(2)	(4)		(4)	(4)

Proposed

Proposed

- (1) Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(i) of the Securities Act.
- (2) The shares of Common Stock registered hereunder are issuable upon conversion of the Notes at the rate of 89.1385 shares of Common Stock per \$1,000 principal amount of the Notes. Pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act, such number of shares of Common Stock registered hereby shall include an indeterminate number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued as a result of the antidilution provisions thereof.
- (3) Associated with the Common Stock are Series A Participating Preferred Stock Purchase Rights that will not be exercisable or be evidenced separately from the Common Stock prior to the occurrence of certain events.
- (4) Pursuant to Rule 457(i), there is no additional filing fee with respect to the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Notes because no additional consideration will be received in connection with the exercise of the conversion privilege.

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment that specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until this registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

Subject to Completion, Dated November 21, 2006

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. The selling securityholders may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

PROSPECTUS

\$151,800,000

3½% Convertible Senior Notes due 2011 and Shares of Common Stock Issuable upon Conversion of the Notes

Incyte Corporation issued the notes in a private placement in September 2006. This prospectus will be used by selling securityholders to resell their notes and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of their notes. We will not receive any proceeds from this offering.

The notes are due on February 15, 2011. The notes bear interest at the rate of $3\frac{1}{2}\%$ per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning February 15, 2007.

Holders may convert the notes at any time prior to maturity into shares of our common stock at a conversion rate of 89.1385 shares per \$1,000 principal amount of notes (representing a conversion price of approximately \$11.22 per share). This conversion rate is subject to adjustment under the terms of the notes.

We may redeem any portion of the notes at any time after February 20, 2007 and prior to maturity if specific circumstances are satisfied. Holders may require us to repurchase the notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of repurchase, upon the occurrence of a designated event, subject to specified exceptions. The notes are not listed on any securities exchange.

The notes are unsecured senior indebtedness that rank equally with our other senior unsecured debt, but are effectively subordinated to all our secured debt, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt, and to all debt incurred by our subsidiaries.

For a more detailed description of the notes, see Description of Notes beginning on page 25.

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol INCY. The last reported sale price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on November 20, 2006 was \$5.34 per share.

Investing in the notes or our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully read and consider the Risk Factors beginning on page 9.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities
passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is , 2006

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	3
NCYTE CORPORATION	6
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES	8
RISK FACTORS	9
PROCEEDS FROM THE OFFERING	25
DESCRIPTION OF NOTES	25
MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS	38
SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS	45
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	48
LEGAL MATTERS	50
EXPERTS	50
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	50
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	51

About This Prospectus

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. By using a shelf registration statement, the selling securityholders may sell, from time to time, the 3½% Convertible Senior Notes due 2011, which we refer to as the notes, as well as the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes.

You should rely only on the information provided in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, the registration statement, a prospectus supplement or an amendment. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information or to represent anything not contained in this prospectus. You must not rely on any unauthorized information or representations. The selling securityholders are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy, only the notes and shares of common stock covered by this prospectus, and only under circumstances and in jurisdictions where it is lawful to do so. The information contained in this prospectus is current only as of its date, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of the shares.

You should read carefully the entire prospectus, as well as the documents incorporated by reference in the prospectus, before making an investment decision. All references to Incyte, we, us, our, or the Company in this prospectus mean Incyte Corporation and its subsidiaries, except where it is made clear that the term means only the parent company.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement and any report or document contained herein or incorporated herein by reference constitute—forward-looking statements. When used in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement or in any other such report or document, the words—expects,—believes,—anticipates,—estimates,—plans,—and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this prospectus and we expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based. You should, however, review additional disclosures we make in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC. These are statements that relate to future periods and include or incorporate by reference statements under the captions—Summary—and—Risk Factors—as to:

- the discovery, development, formulation, manufacturing and commercialization of our compounds and our product candidates;
- the increase in our drug discovery and development efforts;
- the expected timing, progress, results and other information regarding our preclinical testing, clinical trials and drug development programs;
- conducting clinical trials internally, with collaborators, or with contract research organizations;
- our collaboration and strategic alliance efforts; anticipated benefits and disadvantages of entering into collaboration agreements;
- the regulatory approval process, including determinations to seek U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, approval for, and plans to commercialize, our products in the United States and abroad;
- the safety, effectiveness and potential benefits and indications of our product candidates and other compounds under development; potential uses for our product candidates and our other compounds; our ability to manage expansion of our drug discovery and development operations;
- future required expertise relating to clinical trials, manufacturing, sales and marketing; obtaining and terminating licenses to products, compounds or technology, or other intellectual property rights;
- the receipt of or payments to collaborators resulting from milestones or royalties; the decrease in revenues from our information product-related activities;
- expected expenses and expenditure levels; expected revenues and sources of revenues;
- expected losses; fluctuation of losses;
- our profitability; the adequacy of our capital resources;
- the need to raise additional capital; the costs associated with resolving matters in litigation; our expectations regarding competition; our investments, including anticipated expenditures, losses and expenses;
- costs associated with prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
- our ability to obtain, maintain or increase coverage of product liability and other insurance;

- adequacy of our product liability insurance;
- our indebtedness;
- the listing of the notes on a national exchange; and
- uses of net proceeds.

These forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events, are based on assumptions and are subject to risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected and include, but are not limited to,

- our ability to discover, develop, formulate, manufacture and commercialize a drug candidate or product;
- the risk of unanticipated delays in research and development efforts;
- the risk that previous preclinical testing or clinical trial results are not necessarily indicative of future clinical trial results;
- risks relating to the conduct of our clinical trials;
- changing regulatory requirements;
- the risk of adverse safety findings;
- the risk that results of our clinical trials do not support submission of a marketing approval application for our product candidates;
- the risk of significant delays or costs in obtaining regulatory approvals;
- risks relating to our reliance on third party manufacturers, collaborators, and contract research organizations;
- risks relating to the development of new products and their use by us and our current and potential collaborators;
- risks relating to our inability to control the development of out-licensed drug compounds or drug candidates;
- our ability to in-license a potential drug compound or drug candidate;
- the cost of accessing, licensing or acquiring potential drug compounds or drug candidates developed by other companies;
- the costs of terminating any licensing or access arrangement for third party drug compounds or drug candidates;
- the risk that our product candidates may not obtain regulatory approval;
- the impact of technological advances and competition;
- the ability to compete against third parties with greater resources than ours;
- competition to develop and commercialize similar drug products;

- our ability to obtain patent protection and freedom to operate for our discoveries and to continue to be effective in expanding our patent coverage;
- the impact of changing laws on our patent portfolio;
- developments in and expenses relating to litigation;

- the results of businesses in which we have made investments;
- our ability to obtain additional capital when needed;
- our history of operating losses; and
- the risks set forth or later incorporated by reference under Risk Factors.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, events, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. We do not assume responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. We do not intend to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this prospectus to conform them to actual results.

INCYTE CORPORATION

This summary contains basic information about us, the notes and our common stock. Because it is a summary, it is not complete and it does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing. You should read this entire prospectus carefully, including the information incorporated by reference herein, especially the risks of investing in the notes and our common stock described under the caption entitled Risk Factors and our financial statements and the related notes incorporated in this prospectus by reference, before making an investment decision.

Incyte Corporation is focused on the discovery and development of novel drugs to treat major medical conditions. Our core therapeutic areas are oncology and inflammation, and we have additional programs in diabetes and human immunodeficiency virus, or HIV. We have assembled a team of scientists with core competencies in the areas of medicinal chemistry and molecular, cellular and *in vivo* biology.

We have several internal drug development programs underway. Our most advanced oncology program involves inhibitors of an enzyme activity known as sheddase. We believe these compounds may have application in the treatment of breast cancer and other tumor types.

We have developed a series of novel proprietary small molecule inhibitors of 11-beta hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1, or 11BHSD1. 11BHSD1 inhibitors have the potential to treat Type 2 diabetes.

We also have an oral CCR5 antagonist program. We believe CCR5 antagonists may represent a new class of HIV drugs.

One of our inflammation programs is focused on developing antagonists to a key chemokine receptor involved in inflammation called CCR2. We believe that CCR2 receptor antagonists may represent a new class of compounds to treat various inflammation-driven diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, diabetes, and atherosclerosis. We have entered into a collaborative research and license agreement with Pfizer Inc., described below. We have retained rights to certain CCR2 antagonist compounds for multiple sclerosis and an additional, undisclosed, specialty indication.

Earlier stage programs, directed against distinct targets, have generated novel compounds with potential applications in oncology and inflammation.

In April 2006, we announced that we were discontinuing the development of our then most advanced clinical candidate, dexelvucitabine or DFC (formerly known as Reverset), a nucleoside analog reverse transcriptase inhibitor, or NRTI, that was being developed as a treatment for patients with HIV infections.

We anticipate incurring additional losses for several years as we expand our drug discovery and development programs. We also expect that losses will fluctuate from quarter to quarter and that such fluctuations may be substantial. Conducting clinical trials for our drug candidates in development is a lengthy, time-consuming and expensive process. We do not expect to generate product sales from our drug discovery and development efforts for several years, if at all. If we are unable to successfully develop and market pharmaceutical products over the next several years, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely impacted.

In November 2005, we entered a collaborative research and license agreement with Pfizer for the pursuit of our CCR2 antagonist program, which became effective in January 2006. As part of this agreement, we may receive milestone and other payments, including \$10.0 million that was received through the purchase of a convertible subordinated note in February 2006. Pfizer gained worldwide development and commercialization rights to our portfolio of CCR2 antagonist compounds, the most advanced of which was in Phase IIa clinical trials in rheumatoid arthritis and insulin-resistant obese patients. Pfizer s rights extend to the full scope of potential indications, with the exception of multiple sclerosis and one other undisclosed indication, for which we retained worldwide rights, along with certain compounds. We do not have obligations to Pfizer on pre-clinical development candidates we select for

pursuit in these indications. After we file an IND for our CCR2 antagonist candidate for multiple sclerosis and, at our option, Pfizer may purchase from us an additional \$10.0 million convertible subordinated note.

Incyte is our registered trademark. We also refer to trademarks of other corporations and organizations in this prospectus.

Incyte was incorporated in Delaware in 1991. Our executive offices are located at Experimental Station, Route 141 & Henry Clay Road, Building E336, Wilmington, DE 19880 and our telephone number is (302) 498-6700.

The Offering

The following is a brief summary of certain terms of this offering. For a more complete description of the terms of the notes, see the section titled Description of the Notes in this prospectus.

Securities Offered \$151.8 million aggregate principal amount of 3½% Convertible Senior Notes due

2011.

Maturity Date February 15, 2011.

Interest and Payment Dates 3½% per annum on the principal amount, payable semi-annually in

arrears in cash on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning

February 15, 2007.

Conversion The notes are convertible into shares of our common stock, \$.001 par value which we

refer to as our common stock, at the option of the holder, at a conversion rate of 89.1385 shares per \$1,000 principal amount of notes (representing a conversion price of approximately \$11.22 per share of common stock), subject to adjustment, at any time

prior to the close of business on the final maturity date.

Ranking The notes are unsecured senior indebtedness and rank equally with our other senior

unsecured debt, but are effectively subordinated to all our secured debt, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt, and to all debt incurred by our subsidiaries. The notes are senior in right of payment to our 3½% convertible subordinated notes due 2011 and the convertible subordinated note held by Pfizer. As of October 31, 2006, we had no consolidated indebtedness that ranks senior to or equally with the notes and \$260.0 million aggregate principal amount of consolidated indebtedness that ranks junior to the notes. As of October 31, 2006, our subsidiaries had no indebtedness (excluding inter-company indebtedness) outstanding. Neither we nor any of our subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring additional debt, including senior or secured indebtedness, under

the indenture.

Redemption We may redeem any of the notes beginning February 20, 2007 by giving at least 30 days

notice. On or after such date, we may redeem the notes at any time and from time to time, either in whole or in part, at redemption prices declining from 102.0% of their principal amount in 2007 to 100% on February 15, 2011, plus accrued and unpaid interest and

additional interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of repurchase.

If a designated event (as described under Description of Notes Repurchase at Option of Designated Event

the Holder Upon a Designated Event) occurs prior to maturity, holders may require us to purchase all or part of the notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to, but excluding,

the date of repurchase.

Use of Proceeds We will not receive any proceeds from the resale of the notes or the sale of the shares of

common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes.

Original Issue Discount The notes were issued with original issue discount for federal income tax purposes of 22% of their principal amount at maturity. Holders are generally required to include

original issue discount in income as it accrues for federal income tax purposes in advance of receipt of any payment on the notes to which the income is attributable, as discussed

under Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations.

The notes will not be listed on any securities exchange or The Nasdaq Stock Market. We

cannot assure you that any active or liquid market will develop for the notes.

Nasdaq Symbol for our Common Stock

See Risk Factors and other information included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus for a discussion of the factors you should carefully consider before deciding to invest in the notes.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each of the period indicated are set forth in the following table:

	Year Ended December 31,				Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2001 (in thou	2002	2003	2004	2005	2005	2006
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges is computed by dividing loss before taxes plus fixed charges by fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest expense (including interest expense from capital leases) and the estimated portion of rental expense deemed by us to be representative of the interest factor of rental payments under operating leases, plus amortization of debt issuance expenses. Earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges by \$182.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, \$135.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, \$166.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, \$164.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, \$103.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, \$75.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and \$53.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

NM Not meaningful. (2)

8

Trading

Risk Factors

RISK FACTORS

An investment in the notes involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties and all other information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus before you purchase the notes, including the risks and uncertainties discussed below, as well as any modification, replacement or update to these risks and uncertainties that are reflected in any future filings we make with the Commission as described under the caption Documents Incorporated By Reference below, which will also be incorporated by reference herein in their entirety.

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. As a result, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risks Relating to Our Business

We are at the early stage of our drug discovery and development efforts and we may be unsuccessful in our efforts.

We are in the early stage of building our drug discovery and development operations. Our ability to discover, develop, and commercialize pharmaceutical products will depend on our ability to:

- hire and retain key scientific employees;
- identify high quality therapeutic targets;
- identify potential drug candidates;
- develop products internally or license drug candidates from others;
- identify and enroll suitable human subjects, either in the United States or abroad, for our clinical trials;
- complete laboratory testing and clinical trials on humans;
- obtain and maintain necessary intellectual property rights to our products;
- obtain and maintain necessary regulatory approvals for our products, both in the United States and abroad;
- enter into arrangements with third parties to provide services or to manufacture our products on our behalf, or develop efficient production facilities meeting all regulatory requirements;
- deploy sales and marketing resources effectively or enter into arrangements with third parties to provide these functions;
- lease facilities at reasonable rates to support our growth; and
- enter into arrangements with third parties to license and commercialize our products.

Of the compounds that we identify as potential drug products or that we in-license from other companies, only a few, if any, are likely to lead to successful drug development programs. Significant research and development efforts will be necessary. For example, in April 2006, we announced the discontinuation of development of DFC, which was at the time our most advanced drug candidate and was in Phase IIb clinical trials. Prior to discontinuation of the DFC program, we expended a significant amount of effort and money on that program. We have limited experience with the activities listed above and may not be successful in discovering, developing, or commercializing drug products. If we choose to outsource

some of these activities, we may be unable to enter into outsourcing or licensing agreements on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In addition, if we elect to manufacture our products in our own manufacturing facilities, we will require substantial additional capital resources to lease or build and maintain those facilities, including attracting and retaining qualified personnel to lease or build and operate our facilities.

Our efforts to discover and develop potential drug candidates may not lead to the discovery, development, commercialization or marketing of drug products.

We are currently engaged in a number of different approaches to discover and develop novel drug candidates. At the present time, we have three drug candidates from our active drug discovery and development programs in clinical trials: (1) our lead sheddase inhibitor in Phase Ib/IIa clinical trials; (2) our lead 11ßHSD1 inhibitor compound in Phase I clinical trials; and (3) our lead CCR5 antagonist compound in Phase IIa clinical trials. Our other earlier stage internal drug discovery programs are focused on compounds with potential applications in oncology and inflammation. We have also licensed to Pfizer our lead CCR2 antagonist, which was in Phase IIa clinical trials at the time of licensing to Pfizer. We have no control over the further clinical development of any compounds we licensed to Pfizer. Discovery and development of potential drug candidates are expensive and time-consuming, and we do not know if our efforts will lead to discovery of any drug candidates that can be successfully developed and marketed. If our efforts do not lead to the discovery of a suitable drug candidate, we may be unable to grow our clinical pipeline or we may be unable to enter into agreements with collaborators who are willing to develop our drug candidates.

The success of our drug discovery and development efforts may depend on our ability to find suitable collaborators to fully exploit our capabilities. If we are unable to establish collaborations or if these future collaborations are unsuccessful, our research and development efforts may be unsuccessful, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

An important element of our business strategy will be to enter into collaborative or license arrangements with other parties, such as our collaboration with Pfizer, under which we license our drug candidates to those parties for development and commercialization. We expect that while we may initially seek to conduct initial clinical trials on our drug candidates, we will need to seek collaborators for a number of our drug candidates, such as our chemokine receptor antagonists, because of the expense, effort and expertise required to continue additional clinical trials and further develop those drug candidates. Because collaboration arrangements are complex to negotiate, we may not be successful in our attempts to establish these arrangements. Also, we may not have drug compounds that are desirable to other parties, or we may be unwilling to license a drug compound because the party interested in it is a competitor. The terms of any such arrangements that we establish may not be favorable to us. Alternatively, potential collaborators may decide against entering into an agreement with us because of our financial, regulatory or intellectual property position or for scientific, commercial or other reasons. If we are not able to establish collaborative agreements, we may not be able to develop and commercialize a drug product, which would adversely affect our business and our revenues.

In order for any of these collaboration or license arrangements to be successful, we must first identify potential collaborators or licensees whose capabilities complement and integrate well with ours. We may rely on these arrangements for not only financial resources, but also for expertise or economies of scale that we expect to need in the future relating to clinical trials, manufacturing, sales and marketing, and for licenses to technology rights. However, it is likely that we will not be able to control the amount and timing of resources that our collaborators or licensees devote to our programs or potential products. If our collaborators or licensees prove difficult to work with, are less skilled than we originally expected or do not devote adequate resources to the program, the relationship will not be successful. If a business

combination involving a collaborator or licensees and a third party were to occur, the effect could be to diminish, terminate or cause delays in development of a potential product.

We face significant competition for our drug discovery and development efforts, and if we do not compete effectively, our commercial opportunities will be reduced or eliminated.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. Our drug discovery and development efforts may target diseases and conditions that are already subject to existing therapies or that are being developed by our competitors, many of which have substantially greater resources, larger research and development staffs and facilities, more experience in completing preclinical testing and clinical trials, and formulation, marketing and manufacturing capabilities. As a result of these resources, our competitors may develop drug products that render our products obsolete or noncompetitive by developing more effective drugs or by developing their products more efficiently. Our ability to develop competitive products would be limited if our competitors succeeded in obtaining regulatory approvals for drug candidates more rapidly than we were able to or in obtaining patent protection or other intellectual property rights that limited our drug development efforts. Any drugs resulting from our research and development efforts, or from our joint efforts with collaborators or licensees, might not be able to compete successfully with our competitors existing and future products, or obtain regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere.

We depend on our collaboration with Pfizer for the development and commercialization of CCR2 antagonist compounds.

Under our collaborative research and license agreement with Pfizer, Pfizer gained worldwide development and commercialization rights to our portfolio of CCR2 antagonist compounds. Pfizer s rights extend to the full scope of potential indications, with the exception of multiple sclerosis and one other undisclosed indication.

Although Pfizer is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize CCR2 antagonists for the indications for which they are responsible, we cannot control the amount and timing of resources Pfizer may devote to the development of CCR2 antagonists. Any failure of Pfizer to perform its obligations under our agreement could negatively impact the development of CCR2 antagonists, lead to our loss of potential revenues from product sales and milestones and delay our achievement, if any, of profitability.

Pfizer has certain rights to terminate the license agreement, including the right to terminate upon 90 days notice for any reason. Pfizer also has the right to terminate its rights and obligations with respect to certain indications. If Pfizer terminates the license agreement or its rights with respect to certain indications, we may not be able to find a new collaborator to replace Pfizer, and our business could be adversely affected.

If conflicts arise between our collaborators, including Pfizer, licensees, or advisors and us, our collaborators, licensees, or advisors may act in their self-interest, which may adversely affect our business.

If conflicts arise between us and our collaborators or licensees, including Pfizer, or our scientific advisors, the other party may act in its self-interest and not in the interest of our stockholders. Conflicts may arise with our collaborators or licensees if they pursue alternative technologies or develop alternative products either on their own or in collaboration with others as a means for developing treatments for the diseases that we have targeted. Competing products, either developed by these future collaborators or licensees or to which these future collaborators or licensees have rights, may result in their withdrawal of support for our product candidates.

Additionally, conflicts may arise if there is a dispute about the achievement and payment of a milestone amount or the ownership of intellectual property that is developed during the course of the relationship. Similarly, the parties to a collaboration or license agreement may disagree as to which party owns newly developed products. Should an agreement be terminated as a result of a dispute and before we have realized the benefits of the collaboration or license, our reputation could be harmed and we may not obtain revenues that we anticipated receiving.

If we fail to enter into additional licensing agreements or if these arrangements are unsuccessful, our business and operations might be adversely affected.

In addition to establishing collaborative or license arrangements under which other parties license our drug candidates for development and commercialization, we intend to continue to explore opportunities to develop our clinical pipeline by in-licensing drug compounds that fit within our expertise and research and development capabilities. We may be unable to enter into any additional in-licensing agreements because suitable product candidates that are within our expertise may not be available to us on terms that are acceptable to us or because competitors with greater resources seek to in-license the same product candidates. Product candidates that we would like to develop may not be available to us because they are controlled by competitors who are unwilling to license the rights to the drug compound or candidate to us. In addition, we may enter into license agreements that are unsuccessful and our business and operations might be adversely affected by the termination of a drug candidate and termination and winding down of the related license agreement. For example, in April 2006, we announced the discontinuation of development of DFC and we gave notice of termination of our collaborative license agreement with Pharmasset, Inc., which licensed DFC to us. DFC was at the time our most advanced drug candidate. We may also need to license drug delivery or other technology in order to continue to develop our drug candidate pipeline. If we are unable to enter into additional agreements to license drug candidates, drug delivery technology or other technology or if these arrangements are unsuccessful, our research and development efforts could be adversely affected.

We have limited expertise with and capacity to conduct preclinical testing and clinical trials, and our resulting dependence on other parties could result in delays in and additional costs for our drug development efforts.

We have only limited experience with clinical trials, formulation, manufacturing and commercialization of drug products. We also have limited internal resources and capacity to perform preclinical testing and clinical trials. As a result, we intend to hire Clinical Research Organizations, or CROs, to perform preclinical testing and clinical trials for drug candidates. If the CROs that we hire to perform our preclinical testing and clinical trials or our collaborators or licensees do not meet deadlines, do not follow proper procedures, or a conflict arises between us and our CROs, our preclinical testing and clinical trials may take longer than expected, may be delayed or may be terminated. If we were forced to find a replacement entity to perform any of our preclinical testing or clinical trials, we may not be able to find a suitable entity on favorable terms, or at all. Even if we were able to find another company to perform a preclinical test or clinical trial, the delay in the test or trial may result in significant expenditures. Events such as these may result in delays in our obtaining regulatory approval for our drug candidates or our ability to commercialize our products and could result in increased expenditures that would adversely affect our operating results.

In addition, for some of our drug candidates, we plan to contract with collaborators or licensees to advance those candidates through later-stage, more expensive clinical trials, rather than invest our own resources to perform these clinical trials. Depending on the terms of our agreements with these collaborators or licensees, we may not have any control over the conduct of these clinical trials, and in any

event we would be subject to the risks associated with depending on collaborators or licensees to develop these drug candidates.

If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval to develop and market products in the United States and foreign jurisdictions, we will not be permitted to manufacture or commercialize products resulting from our research.

In order to manufacture and commercialize drug products in the United States, our drug candidates will have to obtain regulatory approval from the Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA. Satisfaction of regulatory requirements typically takes many years. To obtain regulatory approval, we must first show that our drug products are safe and effective for target indications through preclinical testing (animal testing) and clinical trials (human testing). Preclinical testing and clinical development are long, expensive and uncertain processes, and we do not know whether the FDA will allow us to undertake clinical trials of any potential drug products in addition to our compounds currently in clinical trials.

Completion of clinical trials may take several years and failure may occur at any stage of testing. The length of time required varies substantially according to the type, complexity, novelty and intended use of the product candidate. Interim results of a preclinical test or clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results, and acceptable results in early clinical trials may not be repeated in later clinical trials. For example, a drug candidate that is successful at the preclinical level may cause harmful or dangerous side effects when tested at the clinical level. Our rate of commencement and completion of clinical trials may be delayed by many factors, including:

- the high degree of risk associated with drug development;
- our inability to formulate or manufacture sufficient quantities of materials for use in clinical trials;
- variability in the number and types of patients available for each study;
- difficulty in maintaining contact with patients after treatment, resulting in incomplete data;
- unforeseen safety issues or side effects;
- poor or unanticipated effectiveness of drug candidates during the clinical trials; or
- government or regulatory delays.

Data obtained from the clinical trials are susceptible to varying interpretation, which may delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including biotechnology companies, have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after achieving promising results in earlier clinical trials. In addition, regulatory authorities may refuse or delay approval as a result of other factors, such as changes in regulatory policy during the period of product development and regulatory agency review. For example, the FDA has in the past required and could in the future require that we conduct additional trials of any of our product candidates, which would result in delays.

Due, in part, to the early stage of our drug candidate research and development process, we cannot predict whether regulatory approval will be obtained for any product we develop. At the present time, we have three drug candidates in clinical trials: (1) our lead sheddase inhibitor in Phase Ib/IIa clinical trials; (2) our lead 11BHSD1 inhibitor compound in Phase I clinical trials; and (3) our lead CCR5 antagonist compound in Phase IIa clinical trials. Our other drug candidates are still undergoing preclinical testing. We have also licensed to Pfizer our lead CCR2 antagonist; further clinical development of this compound, which was in Phase IIa clinical trials at the time of licensing, is under Pfizer s control. Compounds developed by us, alone or with other parties, may not prove to be safe and effective in clinical trials and may not meet all of the applicable regulatory requirements needed to receive marketing approval. If regulatory approval of a product is granted, this approval will be limited to those disease states and

conditions for which the product is demonstrated through clinical trials to be safe and effective. Failure to obtain regulatory approval would delay or prevent us from commercializing products.

Outside the United States, our ability to market a product is contingent upon receiving a marketing authorization from the appropriate regulatory authorities. This foreign regulatory approval process typically includes all of the risks associated with the FDA approval process described above and may also include additional risks.

Our reliance on other parties to manufacture our drug candidates could result in a short supply of the drugs, delays in development, increased costs and withdrawal or denial of the regulatory authority s approval.

The FDA requires that drug products be manufactured according to its current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, regulations and a limited number of manufacturers comply with these requirements. If the other parties that we choose to manufacture our drug products are not compliant with cGMP, the FDA may not approve our application to manufacture our drug products. We may not be able to arrange for our products to be manufactured by one of these parties on reasonable terms, if at all. Failure to comply with cGMP in the manufacture of our products could result in the FDA withdrawing or denying regulatory approval of our drug product or other enforcement actions.

We may not be able to obtain sufficient quantities of our new drug products if our designated manufacturers do not have the capacity or capability to manufacture our products according to our schedule and specifications. Also, raw materials that may be required to manufacture any products we develop may only be available from a limited number of suppliers. If we have promised delivery of a new product and are unable to meet the delivery requirement due to manufacturing difficulties, our development programs would be delayed, and we may have to expend additional sums in order to ensure that manufacturing capacity is available when we need it even if we do not use all of the manufacturing capacity. This expense would adversely affect our operating results. Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products often encounter difficulties in production, especially in scaling up initial production. These problems include difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control and assurance and shortages of qualified personnel, as well as compliance with strictly enforced federal, state and foreign regulations. The manufacturers we choose may not perform as agreed or may terminate their agreements with us. Foreign manufacturing approval processes typically include all of the risks associated with the FDA approval process for manufacturing and may also include additional risks.

We may incur additional expense in order to market our drug products.

We do not have experience marketing drug products. If the FDA grants regulatory approval to one or more of our drug candidates, we would have to employ additional personnel or engage another party to market our drug products, which would be an additional expense to us.

We might not be able to commercialize our drug candidates successfully, and we may spend significant time and money attempting to do so.

Our lead sheddase inhibitor, 11BHSD1 inhibitor and CCR5 antagonist compounds are our only drug candidates in clinical trials. We have also licensed to Pfizer our lead CCR2 antagonist, which was in Phase IIa clinical trials at the time of licensing. We, or our collaborators or licensees, may decide to discontinue development of any or all of our drug candidates at any time for commercial, scientific or other reasons. We discontinued development of DFC in April 2006 for safety reasons. If a product is developed, but is not marketed, we may have spent significant amounts of time and money on it, which would adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. Even if a drug candidate that we develop receives regulatory approval, we may decide not to commercialize it if we determine that commercialization of that product

would require more money and time than we are willing to invest. For example, drugs that receive approval are subject to post-regulatory surveillance and may have to be withdrawn from the market if previously unknown side effects occur. At this point, the regulatory agencies may require additional clinical trials or testing. Once a drug is marketed, if it causes side effects, the drug product may be recalled or may be subject to reformulation, additional studies, changes in labeling, warnings to the public and negative publicity. As a result, we may not continue to commercialize a product even though it has obtained regulatory approval. Further, we may decide not to continue to commercialize a product if the market does not accept the product because it is too expensive and third parties such as insurance companies or Medicare have not approved it for substantial reimbursement. In addition, we may decide not to continue to commercialize a product if another product comes on the market that is as effective but has fewer side effects. There is also a risk that competitors may develop similar or superior products or have proprietary rights that preclude us from ultimately marketing our products.

Our ability to generate revenues will be diminished if we are unable to obtain acceptable prices or an adequate level of reimbursement from payors of healthcare costs.

The continuing efforts of government and insurance companies, health maintenance organizations, or HMOs, and other payors of healthcare costs to contain or reduce costs of health care may affect our future revenues and profitability, and the future revenues and profitability of our potential customers, suppliers and collaborative or license partners and the availability of capital. For example, in certain foreign markets, pricing or profitability of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to government control. In the United States, given recent federal and state government initiatives directed at lowering the total cost of health care, the U.S. Congress and state legislatures will likely continue to focus on health care reform, the cost of prescription pharmaceuticals and on the reform of the Medicare and Medicaid systems. While we cannot predict whether any such legislative or regulatory proposals will be adopted, the announcement or adoption of these proposals could reduce the price that we or any of our collaborators or licensees receive for any products in the future.

Our ability to commercialize our products successfully will depend in part on the extent to which appropriate reimbursement levels for the cost of our products and related treatment are obtained by governmental authorities, private health insurers and other organizations, such as HMOs. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. Also, the trend toward managed health care in the United States and the concurrent growth of organizations such as HMOs, which could control or significantly influence the purchase of health care services and products, as well as legislative proposals to reform health care or reduce government insurance programs, may all result in lower prices for or rejection of our products. The cost containment measures that health care payors and providers are instituting and the effect of any health care reform could materially and adversely affect our ability to generate revenues.

As our drug discovery and development operations are conducted at our headquarters in Wilmington, Delaware, the loss of access to this facility would negatively impact our business.

Our facility in Wilmington, Delaware is our headquarters and is also where we conduct all of our drug discovery operations and research and development activities. Our lease contains provisions that provide for its early termination upon the occurrence of certain events of default or upon a change of control. Further, our headquarters facility is located in a large research and development complex that may be temporarily or permanently shutdown if certain environmental or other hazardous conditions were to occur within the complex. In addition, actions of activists opposed to aspects of pharmaceutical research may disrupt our experiments or our ability to access or use our facilities. The loss of access to or use of our Wilmington, Delaware, facility, either on a temporary or permanent basis, or early termination of our lease

would result in an interruption of our business and, consequently, would adversely affect the advancement of our drug discovery and development programs and our overall business.

We depend on key employees in a competitive market for skilled personnel, and the loss of the services of any of our key employees would affect our ability to expand our drug discovery and development programs and achieve our objectives.

We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management, operations and scientific staff. We experience intense competition for qualified personnel. Our future success also depends in part on the continued service of our executive management team, key scientific and management personnel and our ability to recruit, train and retain essential scientific personnel for our drug discovery and development programs, including those who will be responsible for overseeing our preclinical testing and clinical trials as well as for the establishment of collaborations with other companies. If we lose the services of any of these people, our research and product development goals, including the identification and establishment of key collaborations, operations and marketing efforts could be delayed or curtailed. We do not maintain key person insurance on any of our employees.

We may encounter difficulties in integrating companies we acquire, which may harm our operations and financial results.

As part of our business strategy, we have in the past and may in the future acquire assets, technologies, compounds and businesses. Our past acquisitions, such as the acquisition of Maxia have involved, and our future acquisitions may involve, risks such as the following:

- we may be exposed to unknown liabilities of acquired companies;
- our acquisition and integration costs may be higher than we anticipated and may cause our quarterly and annual operating results to fluctuate;
- we may experience difficulty and expense in assimilating the operations and personnel of the acquired businesses, disrupting our business and diverting our management s time and attention;
- we may be unable to integrate or complete the development and application of acquired technology, compounds or drug candidates;
- we may experience difficulties in establishing and maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies;
- our relationships with key customers, suppliers, or collaborative or license partners of acquired businesses may be impaired, due to changes in management and ownership of the acquired businesses;
- we may be unable to retain key employees of the acquired businesses;
- we may incur amortization or impairment expenses if an acquisition results in significant goodwill or other intangible assets; or
- our stockholders may be diluted if we pay for the acquisition with equity securities.

In addition, if we acquire additional businesses that are not located near our new headquarters, we may experience more difficulty integrating and managing the acquired businesses operations.

If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we could face substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our products and our results of operations could be harmed.

The clinical trials and marketing of medical products that are intended for human use entails an inherent risk of product liability. If any product that we or any of our collaborators or licensees develops causes or is alleged to cause injury or is found to be unsuitable during clinical trials, manufacturing or sale, we may be held liable. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities, including substantial damages to be paid to the plaintiffs and legal costs, or we may be required to limit commercialization of our products. Our product liability insurance policy that provides coverage for liabilities arising from our clinical trials may not fully cover our potential liabilities. In addition, we may determine that we should increase our coverage upon the undertaking of new clinical trials, and this insurance may be prohibitively expensive to us or our collaborators or licensees and may not fully cover our potential liabilities. Our inability to obtain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of pharmaceutical products we develop, alone or with our collaborators. Additionally, any product liability lawsuit could cause injury to our reputation, recall of products, participants to withdraw from clinical trials, and potential collaborators or licensees to seek other partners, any of which could impact our results of operations.

Because our activities involve the use of hazardous materials, we may be subject to claims relating to improper handling, storage or disposal of these materials that could be time consuming and costly.

We are subject to various environmental, health and safety laws and regulations governing, among other things, the use, handling, storage and disposal of regulated substances and the health and safety of our employees. Our research and development processes involve the controlled use of hazardous and radioactive materials and biological waste resulting in the production of hazardous waste products. We cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or discharge and any resultant injury from these materials. If any injury or contamination results from our use or the use by our collaborators or licensees of these materials, we may be sued and our liability may exceed our insurance coverage and our total assets. Further, we may be required to indemnify our collaborators or licensees against all damages and other liabilities arising out of our development activities or products produced in connection with these collaborations or licenses. Compliance with the applicable environmental and workplace laws and regulations is expensive. Future changes to environmental, health, workplace and safety laws could cause us to incur additional expense or may restrict our operations or impair our research, development and production efforts.

Risks Relating to our Financial Results

We expect to incur losses in the future and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We had net losses from inception in 1991 through 1996 and in 1999 through 2006. Because of those losses, we had an accumulated deficit of \$899.6 million as of October 31, 2006. We will continue to spend significant amounts on our efforts to discover and develop drugs. As a result, we expect to continue to incur losses in 2006 and in future periods as well.

We anticipate that our drug discovery and development efforts will increase as we focus on the studies, including preclinical tests and clinical trials prior to seeking regulatory approval, that are required before we can sell a drug product. The development of drug products will require us to spend significant funds on research, development, testing, obtaining regulatory approvals, manufacturing and marketing. To date, we do not have any drug products that have generated revenues and we cannot assure you that we will generate revenues from the drug candidates that we license or develop for several years, if ever. We cannot be certain whether or when we will achieve profitability because of the significant uncertainties

relating to our ability to generate commercially successful drug products. Even if we were successful in obtaining regulatory approvals for manufacturing and commercializing a drug candidate, we expect that we will continue to incur losses if our drug products do not generate significant revenues. If we achieve profitability we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability.

We will need additional capital in the future. The capital markets may not permit us to raise additional capital at the time that we require it, which could result in limitations on our research and development or commercialization efforts or the loss of certain of our rights in our technologies or drug candidates.

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors and we anticipate that we will need to raise additional capital to fund our business plan and research and development efforts on a going-forward basis.

Additional factors that may affect our future funding requirements include:

- any changes in the breadth of our research and development programs;
- the results of research and development, preclinical testing and clinical trials conducted by us or our future collaborative partners or licensees, if any;
- the acquisition or licensing of businesses, technologies or compounds, if any;
- our ability to maintain and establish new corporate relationships and research collaborations;
- competing technological and market developments;
- the amount of revenues generated from our business activities, if any;
- the time and costs involved in filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent and intellectual property claims;
- the receipt of contingent licensing or milestone fees or royalties on product sales from our current or future collaborative and license arrangements, if established; and
- the timing of regulatory approvals, if any.

If we require additional capital at a time when investment in companies such as ours, or in the marketplace generally, is limited due to the then prevailing market or other conditions, we may have to scale back our operations, eliminate one or more of our research or development programs, or attempt to obtain funds by entering into an agreement with a collaborative partner that would result in terms that are not favorable to us or relinquishing our rights in certain of our proprietary technologies or drug candidates. If we are unable to raise funds at the time that we desire or at any time thereafter on acceptable terms, we may not be able to continue to develop our potential drug products. The sale of equity or additional convertible debt securities in the future would be dilutive to our stockholders, and debt financing arrangements may require us to pledge certain assets or enter into covenants that could restrict our operations or our ability to incur further indebtedness.

Future milestone and royalty payments from our gene and genomics-related intellectual property may not contribute significantly to revenues for several years, and may never result in revenues.

Part of our prior strategy was to license to our database customers and to other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies our know-how and patent rights associated with the information we have generated in the creation of our proprietary databases, for use in the discovery and development of potential pharmaceutical, diagnostic or other products. Any potential product that is the subject of such a license will require several years of further development, clinical trials and regulatory approval before commercialization, all of which is beyond our control, and possibly beyond the control of our licensee.

These licensees may not develop the potential product if they do not devote the necessary resources or decide that they do not want to expend the resources to do the clinical trials necessary to obtain the necessary regulatory approvals. Therefore, milestone or royalty payments from these licenses may not contribute to our revenues for several years, if at all. We have decided to discontinue some of our gene and genomics-related patent prosecution and maintenance, and may in the future decide to discontinue additional gene and genomics-related patent prosecution and maintenance, which could limit our ability to receive license-based revenues from our gene and genomics-related patent portfolio.

Our investments may decline in value and our losses may increase.

We have made and may in the future make investments in entities that complement our business. These investments may:

- often be made in securities lacking a public trading market or subject to trading restrictions, either of which increases our risk and reduces the liquidity of our investment;
- require us to record losses and expenses related to our ownership interest;
- require us to record acquisition-related charges, such as in-process research and development;
- require us to record charges related to the impairment in the value of the securities underlying our investment; and
- require us to invest greater amounts than anticipated or to devote substantial management time to the management of research and development relationships or other relationships.

The market values of many of these investments can fluctuate significantly. We evaluate our long-term investments for impairment of their value on a quarterly basis. The value of our investments in private companies can fluctuate significantly. In past periods, market conditions have caused us to write-down the value of our private company investments, sometimes substantially, and market conditions may cause us to write down additional amounts. In addition, we have in the past written down the value of our debt investments in companies experiencing financial difficulties. Impairment could result in future charges to our earnings. Decreases in the value of our strategic investments may cause our losses to increase.

We have a large amount of debt and our debt service obligations may prevent us from taking actions that we would otherwise consider to be in our best interests.

As of October 31, 2006, the aggregate principal amount of total consolidated debt was \$411.8 million. The indenture pursuant to which our outstanding convertible subordinated notes were issued do not limit the issuance of additional indebtedness. Our substantial leverage could have significant negative consequences for our future operations, including:

- increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
- limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital and research and development expenditures, and general corporate purposes;
- requiring the dedication of a substantial portion of our expected cash flow or our existing cash to service our indebtedness, thereby reducing the amount of our cash available for other purposes, including working capital, capital expenditures and research and development expenditures;
- limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; or
- placing us at a possible competitive disadvantage compared to less leveraged competitors and competitors that have better access to capital resources.

In the past five years, we have had negative cash flow from operations. We likely will not generate sufficient cash flow from our operations in the future to enable us to meet our anticipated fixed charges, including our debt service requirements with respect to our outstanding convertible senior notes and convertible subordinated notes. As of October 31, 2006, \$151.8 million aggregate principal amount of our $3\frac{1}{2}\%$ convertible senior notes due 2011 was outstanding. Our annual interest payments, beginning in 2007, for the $3\frac{1}{2}\%$ convertible senior notes due 2011 through 2010, assuming none of these notes are converted, redeemed, repurchased or exchanged, are \$5.3 million, and an additional \$0.7 million in interest is payable in 2011. As of October 31, 2006, \$250.0 million aggregate principal amount of our $3\frac{1}{2}\%$ convertible subordinated notes due 2011 was outstanding. Our annual interest payments for the $3\frac{1}{2}\%$ convertible subordinated notes due 2011 through 2010, assuming none of these notes are converted, redeemed, repurchased or exchanged, are \$8.8 million, and an additional \$4.4 million in interest is payable in 2011. As of October 31, 2006, we also had outstanding the \$10.0 million aggregate principal amount of the convertible subordinated note held by Pfizer, which is due in 2013 but does not bear interest. If we are unable to generate cash from our operations or raise additional cash through financings sufficient to meet these obligations, we will need to use existing cash or liquidate marketable securities in order to fund these obligations, which may delay or curtail our research, development and commercialization programs.

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property and Legal Matters

If we are subject to arbitration, litigation and infringement claims, they could be costly and disrupt our drug discovery and development efforts.

The technology that we use to make and develop our drug products, the technology that we incorporate in our products, and the products we are developing may be subject to claims that they infringe the patents or proprietary rights of others. The success of our drug discovery and development efforts will also depend on our ability to develop new compounds, drugs and technologies without infringing or misappropriating the proprietary rights of others. We are aware of patents and patent applications filed in certain countries claiming certain intellectual property relating to certain drug discovery targets such as CCR5. While the validity of issued patents, patentability of pending patent applications and applicability of any of them to our programs are uncertain, if any of these patents are asserted against us, our ability to commercialize our products could be harmed.

From time to time we may receive notices from third parties offering licenses to technology or alleging patent, trademark, or copyright infringement, claims regarding trade secrets or other contract claims. Receipt of these notices could result in significant costs as a result of the diversion of the attention of management from our drug discovery and development efforts. No third party has a current filed patent lawsuit or arbitration against us. If a successful claim were brought against us, we would have to attempt to license the technology from the claimant or to spend time and money to design around the technology. Any such license of the technology may not be available at reasonable terms, or at all.

We may, however, be involved in future lawsuits or other legal proceedings alleging patent infringement or other intellectual property rights or contract violations. In addition, litigation or other legal proceedings may be necessary to:

- assert claims of infringement;
- enforce our patents or trademarks;
- protect our trade secrets or know-how; or
- determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others.

We may be unsuccessful in defending or pursuing these lawsuits or claims. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can be very costly and can divert management s efforts. For example, we recently settled patent

litigation with Invitrogen Corporation. We incurred significant expenses related to this litigation and, as part of the settlement, paid Invitrogen \$3.4 million. An adverse determination may subject us to significant liabilities or require us or our collaborators or licensees to seek licenses to other parties patents or proprietary rights. We or our collaborators or licensees may also be restricted or prevented from manufacturing or selling a drug product that we develop. Further, we or our future collaborators or licensees may not be able to obtain any necessary licenses on acceptable terms, if at all.

We may be unable to adequately protect or enforce our proprietary information, which may result in its unauthorized use, a loss of revenue under a collaboration agreement or loss of sales to generic versions of our products or otherwise reduce our ability to compete.

Our business and competitive position depend in part upon our ability to protect our proprietary technology, including any drug products that we create. Despite our efforts to protect this information, unauthorized parties may attempt to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. For example, one of our collaborators may disclose proprietary information pertaining to our drug discovery efforts. Any patents issued in connection with our drug discovery efforts may not be broad enough to protect all of the potential uses of the product.

Additionally, when we do not control the prosecution, maintenance and enforcement of certain important intellectual property, such as a drug compound in-licensed to us or subject to a collaboration with a third party, the protection of the intellectual property rights may not be in our hands. If we do not control the intellectual property rights in-licensed to us with respect to a compound and the entity that controls the intellectual property rights does not adequately protect those rights, our rights may be impaired, which may impact our ability to develop, market and commercialize the in-licensed compound.

Our means of protecting our proprietary rights may not be adequate, and our competitors may:

- independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information, products and techniques;
- otherwise gain access to our proprietary information; or
- design around patents issued to us or our other intellectual property.

We pursue a policy of having our employees, consultants and advisors execute proprietary information and invention agreements when they begin working for us. However, these agreements may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary information in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure. If we fail to maintain trade secret and patent protection, our potential, future revenues may be decreased.

If the effective term of our patents is decreased due to changes in the United States patent laws or if we need to refile some of our patent applications, the value of our patent portfolio and the revenues we derive from it may be decreased.

The value of our patents depends in part on their duration. A shorter period of patent protection could lessen the value of our rights under any patents that we obtain and may decrease the revenues we derive from our patents. The United States patent laws were amended in 1995 to change the term of patent protection from 17 years from patent issuance to 20 years from the earliest effective filing date of the application. Because the time from filing to issuance of biotechnology applications may be more than three years depending on the subject matter, a 20-year patent term from the filing date may result in substantially shorter patent protection. Also, we may need to refile some of our applications filed before 1995 that claim large numbers of genes or other additional subject matter and, in these situations, the patent term will be measured from the date of the earliest priority application. This would shorten our period of patent exclusivity and may decrease the revenues that we might derive from the patents.

International patent protection is particularly uncertain and costly, and if we are involved in opposition proceedings in foreign countries, we may have to expend substantial sums and management resources.

Biotechnology and pharmaceutical patent law outside the United States is even more uncertain and costly than in the United States and is currently undergoing review and revision in many countries. Further, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as United States laws. For example, certain countries do not grant patent claims that are directed to the treatment of humans. We may participate in opposition proceedings to determine the validity of our foreign patents or our competitors foreign patents, which could result in substantial costs and diversion of our efforts.

Risks Relating to the Notes and Common Stock

You will be required to pay United States federal income tax on the accrual of original issue discount.

The notes were issued with original issue discount for United States federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, holders generally will be required to include such original issue discount in gross income on a constant yield basis over the term of the notes, regardless of their regular method of tax accounting. See Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations Interest Income and Original Issue Discount.

We cannot assure you that an active trading market for the notes will develop.

There has been no public market for the notes. We do not intend to list the notes on any national securities exchange or to seek the admission of the notes for trading on The Nasdaq Stock Market. At the time of the original issuance of the notes in September 2006, the initial purchaser of the notes advised us that it intended to make a market in the notes, but it is not obligated to do so, and if it does make a market in the notes it may stop at any time. As a result, we cannot assure you that a market will develop for the notes. Future trading prices of the notes will depend on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic conditions and our financial condition, performance and prospects. Historically, the market for convertible debt has been subject to disruptions that have caused volatility in the prices of securities similar to the notes. We cannot assure you that the market, if any, for the notes will be free from similar disruptions or that any such disruption may not adversely affect the prices at which you may sell your notes.

We may not have the funds necessary to finance the repurchase of the notes or may otherwise be restricted from making such repurchase if required by holders pursuant to the indenture.

At any time prior to maturity following a designated event under the indenture, holders may require us to repurchase their notes at a price of 100% of the principal amount of the notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest and any additional interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. However, it is possible that we will not have sufficient funds available at such time to make the required repurchase of notes. Our $3\frac{1}{2}$ % convertible subordinated notes due 2011 and the convertible subordinated note held by Pfizer contain similar provisions that give the option to those securityholders to require us to repurchase those notes upon certain events that may also constitute designated events under the indenture. As a result, following a designated event, we may be required to repurchase a significant amount of indebtedness along with the notes and we may not have sufficient funds to repurchase all such indebtedness at that time. As of October 31, 2006, we had approximately \$151.8 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of our $3\frac{1}{2}$ % convertible senior notes due 2011, \$250.0 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of our $3\frac{1}{2}$ % convertible subordinated notes due 2011, and \$10.0 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of the convertible subordinated note held by Pfizer.

In addition, any future credit agreements or other agreements relating to our indebtedness could contain provisions prohibiting the repurchase of the notes under certain circumstances, or could provide that a designated event constitutes an event of default under that agreement. If any agreement governing our indebtedness prohibits or otherwise restricts us from repurchasing the notes when we become obligated to do so, we could seek the consent of the lenders to repurchase the notes or attempt to refinance this debt. If we do not obtain such a consent or refinance the indebtedness, we would not be permitted to repurchase the notes without potentially causing a default under that indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase tendered notes would constitute an event of default under the indenture, which might constitute a default under the terms of our other indebtedness, causing much or all of our indebtedness to become due simultaneously when we are unable to pay it.

Because the price of our common stock has been volatile historically, it may be difficult for you to resell the notes or the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes.

The notes will be convertible into shares of our common stock. The market price of our common stock, like that of the common stock of many other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, has been and is likely to be highly volatile. In addition, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has significantly affected the market prices of securities of many pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for reasons frequently unrelated to or disproportionate to the operating performance of the specific companies. The price of our common stock could also be affected by possible sales of our common stock by investors who view the notes as a more attractive means of equity participation in our company and by hedging or arbitrage trading activity that may develop involving our common stock. Broad market fluctuations, hedging or arbitrage may adversely affect the market price of the notes and the underlying common stock. Prices for the notes and the underlying common stock will be determined in the market place and may be influenced by many factors, including:

- variations in our financial results;
- announcements about us or about our competitors, including technological innovations, the introduction of new products or services, or the failure of a new drug in clinical trials;
- litigation and other developments relating to our patents or other proprietary rights or those of our competitors;
- conditions in the life sciences, biotechnology or pharmaceutical industries;
- governmental regulation and legislation;
- sales of a substantial amount of our securities; and
- investors perceptions of us, changes in recommendations by securities analysts as well as their perceptions of general economic, industry and market conditions.

In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market prices of their stock have been the object of securities class action litigation. If we were the object of securities class action litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management s attention and resources.

The conversion rate of the notes may not be adjusted for all dilutive events.

The conversion rate of the notes is subject to adjustment for certain events, including, but not limited to, the issuance of stock dividends on our common shares, the issuance of certain rights or warrants, subdivisions or combinations of our common shares, certain distributions of assets, debt securities, capital stock or cash to holders of our common shares and certain issuer tender or exchange offers as described under Description of Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate Adjustments. The conversion rate will not be adjusted for other events, such as an issuance of common shares for cash, that may adversely

affect the trading price of the notes or the common shares. We cannot assure you that an event that adversely affects the value of the notes or our common stock, but does not result in an adjustment to the conversion rate, will not occur.

Conversion of the notes will dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders, including holders who had previously converted their notes.

The conversion of some or all of the notes will dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders. Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock. In addition, the existence of the notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the conversion of the notes could depress the price of our common stock.

If you hold notes, you will not be entitled to any rights with respect to our common stock, but you will be subject to all changes made with respect to our common stock.

If you hold notes, you will not be entitled to any rights with respect to our common stock (including, without limitation, voting rights and rights to receive any dividends or other distributions on our common stock) but you will be subject to all changes affecting the common stock. You will have rights with respect to our common stock only if and when we deliver shares of common stock to you upon conversion of your notes and, to a limited extent, under the conversion rate adjustments applicable to the notes. For example, in the event that an amendment is proposed to our certificate of incorporation or bylaws requiring stockholder approval and the record date for determining the stockholders of record entitled to vote on the amendment occurs prior to delivery of common stock to you, you will not be entitled to vote on the amendment, although you will nevertheless be subject to any changes in the powers or rights of our common stock.

We have various mechanisms in place to discourage takeover attempts, which may reduce or eliminate our stockholders ability to sell their shares for a premium in a change of control transaction.

Various provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and of Delaware corporate law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control or takeover attempt of our company by a third party that is opposed by our management and board of directors. Public stockholders who might desire to participate in such a transaction may not have the opportunity to do so. These anti-takeover provisions could substantially impede the ability of public stockholders to benefit from a change of control or change in our management and board of directors. These provisions include:

- no cumulative voting for directors, which would otherwise allow less than a majority of stockholders to elect director candidates;
- control by our board of directors of the size of our board of directors;
- limitations on the ability of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;
- advance notice requirements for nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by our stockholders at stockholder meetings; and
- the ability of our board of directors to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred stock with rights that are senior to those of our common stock.

In addition, our board of directors has adopted a stockholder rights plan, the provisions of which could make it more difficult for a potential acquirer of Incyte to consummate an acquisition transaction. Also, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or consolidating with us.

PROCEEDS FROM THE OFFERING

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the notes or the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus. All proceeds from the sale of the shares will be for the account of the selling securityholders. See Selling Securityholders and Plan of Distribution below.

DESCRIPTION OF NOTES

We issued the notes under an indenture dated as of September 26, 2006 between Incyte, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The notes and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes are covered by a registration rights agreement. You may request a copy of the indenture and the registration rights agreement at our address shown under the caption Documents Incorporated by Reference.

The following description is a summary of the material provisions of the notes, the indenture and the registration rights agreement. It does not purport to be complete. This summary is subject to and is qualified by reference to all the provisions of the indenture, including the definitions of certain terms used in the indenture. Wherever particular provisions or defined terms of the indenture or form of note are referred to, these provisions or defined terms are incorporated in this prospectus by reference. We urge you to read the indenture, the form of note and the registration rights agreement in their entirety because they and not this description define your rights as a holder of the notes.

As used in this Description of Notes section, references to Incyte, we, our or us refer solely to Incyte Corporation and not to our consolidate subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.

General

The notes are general unsecured obligations of Incyte. Our payment obligations under the notes are senior in right of payment to our $3\frac{1}{2}$ % convertible subordinated notes due 2011 and the convertible subordinated notes issued or issuable to Pfizer. The notes are not obligations of or guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. The notes are convertible into common stock as described under Conversion of Notes.

The notes are limited to \$151.8 million aggregate principal amount. The notes will be issued only in denominations of \$1,000 and multiples of \$1,000. We use the term note in this prospectus to refer to each \$1,000 principal amount of notes. The notes will mature on February 15, 2011, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. We may also from time to time repurchase the notes in open market purchases or negotiated transactions without prior notice to holders.

Neither we nor any of our subsidiaries are subject to any financial covenants under the indenture. In addition, neither we nor any of our subsidiaries are restricted under the indenture from paying dividends, making investments, incurring debt, including senior indebtedness, granting liens or mortgages, or issuing or repurchasing our securities.

Holders are not afforded protection under the indenture in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or a change in control of us except to the extent described below under Repurchase at Option of the Holder Upon a Designated Event.

We will pay interest, and additional interest, if any, on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning February 15, 2007, to record holders at the close of business on the preceding February 1 and August 1, as the case may be. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months.

Each note was issued with original issue discount for United States federal income tax purposes. The amount of the discount is the difference between the principal amount of the note at maturity and its issue price. Holders should be aware that accrued original issue discount will generally be includable periodically in the holder s gross income as ordinary income for United States federal income tax purposes before conversion, redemption, other disposition or maturity of the notes, whether or not those notes ultimately are converted, redeemed, sold to us or others or paid at maturity. See Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations U.S. Holders Interest Income and Original Issue Discount.

We will maintain an office or agency in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, where we will pay the principal and premium, if any, on the notes and where a holder may present the notes for conversion, registration of transfer or exchange for other denominations, which shall initially be an office or agency of the trustee. We may pay interest by check mailed to the holder s address as it appears in the note register, provided that a holder with an aggregate principal amount in excess of \$2.0 million shall be paid, at the holder s written election, by wire transfer in immediately available funds. However, payments to The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, which we refer to as DTC, will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of DTC or its nominee.

The notes are not subject to a sinking fund provision and are not subject to defeasance or covenant defeasance under the indenture.

Conversion of Notes

A holder may convert any of their notes, in whole or in part, into common stock at any time prior to the close of business on the maturity date of the notes, subject to prior redemption or repurchase of the notes.

The number of shares of common stock a holder will receive upon conversion of their notes will be determined by multiplying the number of \$1,000 principal amount notes converted by the conversion rate on the date of conversion. A holder may convert their notes in part so long as such part is \$1,000 principal amount or an integral multiple of \$1,000.

If we call notes for redemption, a holder may convert the notes only until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the redemption date unless we fail to pay the redemption price. If a holder has submitted their notes for repurchase upon a designated event, the holder may convert their notes only if they withdraw their repurchase election. Upon conversion of notes, a holder will not receive any cash payment of interest or additional interest. Our delivery to the holder of the full number of shares of our common stock into which the note is convertible, together with any cash payment for such holder s fractional shares will be deemed to satisfy our obligation to pay;

- the principal amount of the note; and
- accrued but unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, attributable to the period from the most recent interest payment date to the conversion date.

As a result, accrued but unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to the conversion date is deemed to be paid in full rather than cancelled, extinguished or forfeited.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, if notes are converted after a record date but prior to the next succeeding interest payment date, holders of such notes at the close of business on the record date will receive the interest payable on such notes on the corresponding interest payment date notwithstanding the conversion. Such notes, upon surrender for conversion, must be accompanied by funds equal to the amount of interest payable on the notes so converted; provided that no such payment need be made (1) if we have specified a redemption date that is after a record date but on or prior to the next interest payment date, (2) if we have specified a repurchase date following a designated event that is after a record date but on or prior to the next succeeding interest payment date or (3) to the extent of any overdue interest at the time of conversion with respect to such note.

The initial conversion rate for the notes is 89.1385 shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment as described below, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately \$11.22. We will not issue fractional shares of common stock upon conversion of notes. Instead, we will pay cash in lieu of fractional shares based on the last reported sale price of the common

stock on the trading day prior to the conversion date. Except as described above, a holder will not receive any accrued interest or dividends upon conversion.

To convert notes into common stock a holder must do the following (or comply with DTC procedures for doing so in respect of the holder s beneficial interest in notes evidenced by a global note):

- complete and manually sign the conversion notice on the back of the note or facsimile of the conversion notice and deliver this notice to the conversion agent;
- surrender the note to the conversion agent;
- if required, furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents;
- if required, pay all transfer or similar taxes; and
- if required, pay funds equal to interest payable on the next interest payment date.

The date upon which a holder complies with these requirements is the conversion date under the indenture.

Conversion Rate Adjustments

We will adjust the conversion rate if any of the following events occurs:

- (1) We issue common stock as a dividend or distribution to all holders of our common stock.
- (2) We issue to all holders of common stock certain rights or warrants to purchase our common stock, for a period expiring within 45 days of the record date for such issuance, at a price per share that is less than the average closing sale prices of our common stock for the 10 trading days preceding the date fixed for determination of stockholders entitled to receive such rights or warrants.
- (3) We subdivide or combine our common stock.
- (4) We distribute to all holders of our common stock, shares of our capital stock, evidences of indebtedness or assets, including cash or securities but excluding rights or warrants specified above and dividends or distributions specified above.

If we distribute to all holders of our common stock capital stock of, or similar equity interests in, a subsidiary or other business unit of ours, then, unless we distribute such capital stock or similar equity interests to holders of notes in such distribution, the conversion rate will be adjusted based on the market value of the securities so distributed relative to the market value of our common stock, in each case based on the average closing sales price of those securities (where such closing sale prices are available) for the 10 trading days commencing on and including the fifth trading day after the date on which ex-dividend trading commences for such distribution on the NASDAQ Global Market or such other national or regional exchange or market on which the securities are then listed or quoted.

- (5) If we distribute cash to all holders of our common stock, excluding any dividend or distribution in connection with our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the conversion rate will be adjusted by multiplying:
- the conversion rate by
- a fraction, the numerator of which will be the current market price of our common stock on the record date and the denominator of which will be the current market price of our common stock on the record date minus the amount per share of such dividend or distribution.
- (6) We or one of our subsidiaries makes a payment in respect of a tender offer or exchange offer for our common stock to the extent that the cash and value of any other consideration included in the

payment per share of common stock exceeds the closing sale price per share of common stock on the trading day next succeeding the last date on which tenders or exchanges may be made pursuant to such tender or exchange offer.

Current market price of our common stock on any day means the average of the closing price per share of our common stock for each of the 10 consecutive trading days ending on the earlier of the day in question and the day before the ex-date with respect to the issuance or distribution requiring such computation. For purposes of this paragraph, ex-date means the first date on which the shares of our common stock trade on the applicable exchange or in the applicable market, regular way, without the right to receive such issuance or distribution.

To the extent that we have a rights plan in effect upon conversion of the notes into common stock, a holder will receive, in addition to the common stock, the rights under the rights plan, unless prior to any conversion, the rights have separated from the common stock, in which case the conversion rate will be adjusted at the time of separation as if we distributed to all holders of our common stock, shares of our capital stock, evidences of indebtedness or assets as described above, subject to readjustment in the event of the expiration, termination or redemption of such rights.

In the event of:

- any reclassification of our common stock;
- a consolidation, merger or combination involving us; or
- a sale or conveyance to another person or entity of all or substantially all of our property and assets;

in which holders of our common stock would be entitled to receive stock, other securities, other property, assets or cash for their common stock, upon conversion of their notes a holder will be entitled to receive the same type of consideration that they would have been entitled to receive had the holder converted the notes into our common stock immediately prior to any of these events.

We may, from time to time, increase the conversion rate if our board of directors has made a determination that this increase would be in our best interests. Any such determination by our board will be conclusive. In addition, we may increase the conversion rate if our board of directors deems it advisable to avoid or diminish any income tax to holders of common stock resulting from any stock or rights distribution. See Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations U.S. Holders Constructive Dividends.

The holders of the notes may, in certain circumstances, be deemed to have received a distribution subject to U.S. federal income tax as a dividend. In addition, non-U.S. holders of notes in certain circumstances may be deemed to have received a distribution subject to U.S. federal withholding tax requirements, See Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations U.S. Holders Constructive Dividends and Holders Distributions on Common Stock.

Non-U.S.

Except as described above in this section, we will not adjust the conversion rate for any issuance of our common stock or convertible or exchangeable securities or rights to purchase our common stock or convertible or exchangeable securities.

Optional Redemption by Incyte

Beginning February 20, 2007, we may redeem the notes in whole or in part at the following prices expressed as a percentage of the principal amount:

Redemption Period	Price (%)
Beginning on February 20, 2007 and ending on February 14, 2008	102.0 %
Beginning on February 15, 2008 and ending on February 14, 2009	101.5 %
Beginning on February 15, 2009 and ending on February 14, 2010	101.0 %
Beginning on February 15, 2010 and ending on February 14, 2011	100.5 %

and 100% if redeemed on February 15, 2011. In each case, we will pay interest and additional interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, unless the redemption date falls after a record date but on or prior to the next succeeding interest payment date, in which case we instead will pay the full amount of accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, on such interest payment date to the holder of record on the close of business on the corresponding record date.

We are required to give notice of redemption by mail to holders not more than 60 but not less than 20 days prior to the redemption date.

If less than all of the outstanding notes are to be redeemed, the trustee will select the notes to be redeemed in principal amounts of \$1,000 or multiples of \$1,000 by lot, pro rata or by another method the trustee considers fair and appropriate. If a portion of a holder s notes is selected for partial redemption and that holder converts a portion of their notes, the converted portion will be deemed to the extent practicable to be of the portion selected for redemption.

We may not redeem the notes if we have failed to pay any interest on the notes and such failure to pay is continuing, or if the principal amount of the notes has been accelerated. We will notify the noteholders if we redeem the notes.

Repurchase at Option of the Holder Upon a Designated Event

If a designated event occurs at any time prior to the maturity of the notes, a holder may require us to repurchase their notes, in whole or in part, on a repurchase date that is not less than 20 nor more than 35 business days after the date of our notice of the designated event. The notes will be repurchased only in integral multiples of \$1,000 principal amount.

We will repurchase the notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date. If such repurchase date falls after a record date and on or prior to the corresponding interest payment date, we will pay the full amount of accrued and unpaid interest payable on such interest payment date to the holder of record on the close of business on the corresponding record date.

We will mail to all record holders a notice of a designated event within 10 days after it has occurred. We are also required to deliver to the trustee a copy of the designated event notice. If a holder elects to require us to repurchase their notes, they must deliver to us or our designated agent, prior to the close of business on the repurchase date specified in our designated event notice, a repurchase notice and any notes to be repurchased, duly endorsed for transfer. We will promptly pay the repurchase price for notes surrendered for repurchase following the repurchase date.

A holder may withdraw any written repurchase notice by delivering a written notice of withdrawal to the paying agent prior to the close of business on the repurchase date. The withdrawal notice must state:

• the principal amount of the withdrawn notes;

- if certificated notes have been issued, the certificate number of the withdrawn notes (or, if the notes are not certificated, the withdrawal notice must comply with appropriate DTC procedures); and
- the principal amount, if any, which remains subject to the repurchase notice.

Payment of the repurchase price for a note for which a repurchase notice has been delivered and not withdrawn is conditioned upon book-entry transfer or delivery of the note, together with necessary endorsements, to the paying agent at its corporate trust office in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, or any other office of the paying agent, at any time after delivery of the repurchase notice. Payment of the repurchase price for the note will be made promptly following the later of the repurchase date and the time of book-entry transfer or delivery of the note. If the paying agent holds money sufficient to pay the repurchase price of the note on the repurchase date, then, on and after the business day following the repurchase date:

- the note will cease to be outstanding;
- interest will cease to accrue; and
- all other rights of the holder will terminate, other than the right to receive the repurchase price upon delivery of the note.

This will be the case whether or not book-entry transfer of the note has been made or the note has been delivered to the paying agent.

A designated event will be deemed to have occurred upon a fundamental change or a termination of trading.

A fundamental change is any transaction or event (whether by means of an exchange offer, liquidation, tender offer, consolidation, merger, combination, reclassification, recapitalization or otherwise) in connection with which more than 90% of our common stock is exchanged for, converted into, acquired for or constitutes solely the right to receive, consideration, of which more than 10% is not common stock, depositary receipts, ordinary shares or other certificates representing common equity interests that:

- are listed on, or immediately after the transaction or event will be listed on, a United States national securities exchange, or
- are approved, or immediately after the transaction or event will be approved, for quotation on the NASDAQ Global Market or any similar United States system of automated dissemination of quotations of securities prices.

A termination of trading will be deemed to have occurred if our common stock (or other common stock into which the notes are then convertible) is not listed for trading on a United States national or regional securities exchange, including on the NASDAQ Global Market.

We will comply with any applicable provisions of Rule 13e-4 and any other applicable tender offer rules under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, in the event of a designated event.

These designated event repurchase rights could discourage a potential acquirer of Incyte. However, this designated event repurchase feature is not the result of management sknowledge of any specific effort to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer or solicitation, or part of a plan by management to adopt a series of anti-takeover provisions. The term designated event is limited to specified transactions and may not include other events that might adversely affect our financial condition or business operations. Our obligation to offer to repurchase the notes upon a designated event would not necessarily afford a holder protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction, reorganization, merger or similar transaction involving us. No notes may be repurchased by us at the option of holders upon a designated event if the principal amount of the notes has been accelerated and such acceleration has not been rescinded.

We may be unable to repurchase the notes in the event of a designated event. If a designated event were to occur, we may not have enough funds to pay the repurchase price for all tendered notes. Any future credit agreements or other agreements relating to our indebtedness may contain provisions prohibiting repurchase of the notes under certain circumstances, or expressly prohibit our repurchase of the notes upon a designated event or may provide that a designated event constitutes an event of default under that agreement. If a designated event occurs at a time when we are prohibited from repurchasing notes, we could seek the consent of our lenders to repurchase the notes or attempt to refinance this debt. If we do not obtain consent, we would not be permitted to repurchase the notes. Our failure to repurchase tendered notes would constitute an event of default under the indenture, which might constitute a default under the terms of our other indebtedness. In these circumstances, or if a designated event would constitute an event of default under our senior indebtedness, the subordination provisions of the indenture would restrict payments to the holders of notes.

Ranking of Notes

The notes are our general obligations and are not secured by any collateral. A holder s right to payment under the notes will be:

- junior in right of payment to the rights of our secured creditors to the extent of their security in our assets;
- equal in right of payment with the rights of creditors under our other unsecured unsubordinated obligations;
- senior in right of payment to the rights of creditors under obligations expressly subordinated to the notes, including our 3½% convertible subordinated notes due 2011 and the convertible subordinated notes issued or issuable to Pfizer; and
- effectively subordinated to secured and unsecured creditors of our subsidiaries.

As of October 31, 2006, we had no consolidated indebtedness that ranks senior to or equally with the notes and \$260.0 million aggregate principal amount of consolidated indebtedness that ranks junior to the notes.

Any right that we have to receive the assets of any of our subsidiaries upon that subsidiary s liquidation or reorganization, and the consequent right of the holders of the notes to receive a portion of these assets, will be effectively subordinated to the claims of that subsidiary s creditors, including trade creditors.

Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay any amounts due pursuant to the notes or to make any funds available for any payment. In addition, the payment of dividends and the making of loans and advances by our subsidiaries to us may be subject to statutory, contractual or other restrictions and are dependent upon the earnings or financial condition of those subsidiaries and subject to various business considerations. As a result, we may be unable to gain access to the cash flow or assets of our subsidiaries.

The indenture does not limit the amount of additional indebtedness that we can create, incur, assume or guarantee, including senior or secured indebtedness nor does the indenture limit the amount of indebtedness or other liabilities that any of our subsidiaries can create, incur, assume or guarantee.

We are obligated to pay reasonable compensation to the trustee and to indemnify the trustee against certain losses, liabilities or expenses incurred by it in connection with its duties relating to the notes. The trustee s claims for these payments will generally be senior to those of the holders of the notes in respect of all funds collected or held by the trustee.

Merger and Sale of Assets by Incyte

The indenture provides that we may not consolidate with or merge with or into any other person or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of our properties or assets to another person, unless among other items:

- we are the surviving person, or the resulting, surviving or transferee person, if other than us is organized and existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;
- the successor person, if other than us, assumes, by supplemental indenture satisfactory in form to the trustee, all of our obligations under the notes and the indenture;
- after giving effect to such transaction, there is no event of default under the indenture, and no event which, after notice or passage of time or both, would become an event of default; and
- we have delivered to the trustee an officers certificate and an opinion of counsel each stating that such transaction complies with these requirements.

When such a person assumes our obligations in such circumstances, subject to certain exceptions, we shall be discharged from all obligations under the notes and the indenture.

Events of Default; Notice and Waiver

The following will be events of default with respect to the notes under the indenture:

- we fail to pay principal or premium, if any, when due at maturity, upon redemption, repurchase or otherwise on the notes;
- we fail to pay any interest or additional interest, if any, on the notes, when due and such failure continues for a period of 30 days;
- we fail to provide timely notice of a designated event;
- we fail to perform or observe any of the covenants in the indenture for 60 days after written notice to us from the trustee (or to us and the trustee from the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding notes);
- payment defaults or acceleration of indebtedness (if such acceleration is not withdrawn, cancelled or otherwise annulled within 10 days), where the aggregate amount of defaulted or accelerated principal, premium, if any, and interest is in excess of \$10 million;
- we fail to deliver shares of our common stock upon conversion of the notes within the time period required by the indenture, and such failure continues for a period of 5 days; or
- certain events involving our bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization.

The trustee may withhold notice to the holders of the notes of any default, except defaults in payment of principal, premium, interest or additional interest, if any, on the notes. However, the trustee must consider it to be in the interest of the holders of the notes to withhold this notice.

If an event of default occurs and continues, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of notes affected thereby then outstanding may declare the principal, premium, if any, and accrued interest and additional interest, if any, on the outstanding notes to be immediately due and payable. In case of certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency involving us, the principal, premium, if any, and accrued interest and additional interest, if any, on the notes will automatically become due and payable. However, if we cure all defaults, except the

nonpayment of principal, premium, if any, interest or additional interest, if any, that became due as a result of the acceleration, and meet certain other conditions, with certain

exceptions, this declaration may be cancelled and the holders of a majority of the principal amount of outstanding notes may waive these past defaults.

Payments of principal, premium, if any, or interest or additional interest, if any, on the notes that are not made when due will accrue interest from the required payment date at the annual rate of 1% above the then applicable interest rate for the notes.

The holders of a majority of outstanding notes will have the right to direct the time, method and place of any proceedings for any remedy available to the trustee, subject to limitations specified in the indenture.

No holder of the notes may pursue any remedy under the indenture, except in the case of a default in the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest or additional interest, unless:

- the holder has given the trustee written notice of an event of default;
- the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of notes affected thereby then outstanding make a written request to the trustee to pursue the remedy;
- the holder or holders have offered reasonable security or indemnity to the trustee against any costs, liability or expense of the trustee;
- the trustee does not receive an inconsistent direction from the holders of a majority in principal amount of the notes; and
- the trustee fails to comply with the request within 60 days after receipt of the request and offer of indemnity.

Modification and Waiver

The consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding notes is required to modify or amend the indenture. However, a modification or amendment requires the consent of the holder of each outstanding note if it would:

- extend the fixed maturity of any note;
- reduce the rate or extend the time for payment of interest or additional interest, if any, of any note;
- reduce the principal amount or premium of any note;
- reduce any amount payable upon redemption or repurchase of any note;
- adversely change our obligation to repurchase any note upon a designated event;
- impair the right of a holder to institute suit for payment on any note;
- change the currency in which any note is payable;
- impair the right of a holder to convert any note or reduce the number of shares of common stock or the amount of any other property receivable upon conversion;
- reduce the quorum or voting requirements under the indenture;
- subject to specified exceptions, modify certain provisions of the indenture relating to modification or waiver of provisions of the indenture;

- reduce the percentage of notes required for consent to any modification of the indenture; or
- change our obligation to maintain an office or agency in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York.

We are permitted to modify certain provisions of the indenture without the consent of the holders of the notes.

Form, Denomination and Registration

The notes are issued:

- in fully registered form;
- without interest coupons; and
- in denominations of \$1,000 principal amount and integral multiples of \$1,000.

Global Note, Book-Entry Form

Notes are evidenced by one or more global notes. We deposited the global note or notes with DTC and registered the global notes in the name of Cede & Co. as DTC s nominee. Except as set forth below, a global note may be transferred, in whole or in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its nominee.

Beneficial interests in a global note may be held directly through DTC if such holder is a participant in DTC, or indirectly through organizations that are participants in DTC (called participants). Transfers between participants will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in clearing house funds. The laws of some states require that certain persons take physical delivery of securities in definitive form. As a result, the ability to transfer beneficial interests in the global note to such persons may be limited.

Holders who are not participants may beneficially own interests in a global note held by DTC only through participants, or certain banks, brokers, dealers, trust companies and other parties that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly (called indirect participants). So long as Cede & Co., as the nominee of DTC, is the registered owner of a global note, Cede & Co. for all purposes will be considered the sole holder of such global note. Except as provided below, owners of beneficial interests in a global note will:

- not be entitled to have certificates registered in their names; and
- not be considered holders of the global note (other than in an enforcement by such owner of a beneficial interest to exchange such beneficial interest for notes in certificated form).

We will pay interest, and additional interest, if any, and the redemption price and the repurchase price of a global note to Cede & Co., as the registered owner of the global note, by wire transfer of immediately available funds on each interest payment date or the redemption or repurchase date, as the case may be. Neither we, the trustee nor any paying agent will be responsible or liable:

- for the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in a global note; or
- for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to the beneficial ownership interests.

Neither we, the trustee, registrar, paying agent nor conversion agent will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations. DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes, including the presentation of notes for exchange, only at the direction of one or more participants to whose account with DTC interests in the global note are credited, and only in respect of the principal amount of the notes represented by the global note as to which the participant or participants has or have given such direction. DTC has advised us that it is:

- a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, and a member of the Federal Reserve System;
- a clearing corporation within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code; and
- a clearing agency registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-entry changes to the accounts of its participants. Participants include securities brokers, dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations and other organizations. Some of the participants or their representatives, together with other entities, own DTC. Indirect access to the DTC system is available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly.

DTC has agreed to the foregoing procedures to facilitate transfers of interests in a global note among participants. However, DTC is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform these procedures, and may discontinue these procedures at any time.

We will issue the notes in definitive certificated form if DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary or DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and a successor depositary is not appointed by us within 90 days. In addition, beneficial interests in a global note may be exchanged for definitive certificated notes upon request by or on behalf of DTC in accordance with customary procedures. We may determine at any time and in our sole discretion that notes shall no longer be represented by global notes, in which case we will issue certificates in definitive form in exchange for the global notes.

Information Concerning the Trustee

We have appointed U.S. Bank National Association, the trustee under the indenture, as paying agent, conversion agent, note registrar and custodian for the notes. The trustee is also the trustee for our 3½% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2011 and the trustee or its affiliates may provide banking and other services to us in the ordinary course of their business.

The indenture contains certain limitations on the rights of the trustee, if it or any of its affiliates is then our creditor, to obtain payment of claims in certain cases or to realize on certain property received on any claim as security or otherwise. The trustee and its affiliates will be permitted to engage in other transactions with us. However, if the trustee or any affiliate continues to have any conflicting interest and a default occurs with respect to the notes, the trustee must eliminate such conflict or resign.

Governing Law

The notes and the indenture shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

Registration Rights of the Noteholders

We entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial purchaser of the notes for the benefit of the holders of the notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes. Under this agreement, we will use our reasonable best efforts to keep the shelf registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part effective until the date there are no longer any registrable securities.

When we use the term registrable securities in this section, we are referring to the notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes until the earliest of:

- the effective registration under the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Act, and the resale of the registrable securities in accordance with the registration statement;
- the expiration of the holding period with respect to the registrable securities under Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act;
- the sale of the registrable securities pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act; and
- the registrable securities cease to be outstanding.

We may suspend the use of this prospectus under certain circumstances relating to pending corporate developments, public filings with the SEC and similar events. Any suspension period shall not exceed:

- 45 days in any three-month period; or
- an aggregate of 90 days for all suspension periods in any 12-month period.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we will be permitted to suspend the use of this prospectus for up to 60 days in any three-month period under certain circumstances, relating to possible acquisitions, financings or other similar transactions.

We will pay predetermined additional interest on the interest payment dates for the notes in the event this prospectus is unavailable for periods in excess of those permitted above. Additional interest will accrue until such failure to file or to become effective or unavailability is cured in respect of any notes at a rate per year equal to 0.25% of the outstanding principal amount thereof for the first 90 days after the occurrence of the event and 0.50% of the outstanding principal amount thereof after the first 90 days.

A holder who elects to sell registrable securities pursuant to the shelf registration statement will be required to:

- be named as a selling stockholder in the related prospectus;
- deliver or make available a prospectus to purchasers; and
- be subject to the provisions of the registration rights agreement, including indemnification provisions.

Under the registration rights agreement we will:

- pay all expenses of the shelf registration statement;
- provide each registered holder copies of the prospectus upon request;
- notify holders when the initial shelf registration statement has become effective; and
- take other reasonable actions as are required to permit unrestricted resales of the registrable securities in accordance with the terms and conditions of the registration rights agreement.

We have agreed to give notice to all holders of the filing and effectiveness of the initial shelf registration statement by issuing a press release to Business Wire. In order to sell registrable securities, a

holder must complete and deliver a notice and questionnaire (in substantially the form provided as an annex to the offering memorandum, dated September 26, 2006, related to the private placement of the notes, or otherwise made available by us to holders) to us at least three business days prior to any intended distribution. Upon receipt of a completed questionnaire after the shelf registration statement has been declared effective, together with any other information we may reasonably request following the effectiveness, we will, within 15 business days (or eight business days if we are then able to name a selling security holder by means of a prospectus supplement to the related prospectus) of receipt, or within 15 business days (or eight business days if we are then able to name a selling security holder by means of a prospectus supplement to the related prospectus) of the end of any period during which we have suspended use of the prospectus, file any amendments to the shelf registration statement or supplements to the related prospectus as are necessary to permit a holder to deliver or make available a prospectus to purchasers of registrable securities, subject to our right to suspend the use of the prospectus. We will pay the predetermined additional interest described above to the holder if we fail to make the filing in the time required or, if such filing is a post-effective amendment to the shelf registration statement required to be declared effective under the Securities Act, if such amendment is not declared effective within 45 days of the filing. If a holder does not complete and deliver a questionnaire or provide the other information we may request, that holder will not be named as a selling securityholder in the prospectus and will not be permitted to sell their registrable securities pursuant to the shelf registration statement.

MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

General

The following is a discussion of the material U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to purchasing, owning and disposing of the notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion thereof. This discussion does not address any tax considerations that may apply to Holders subject to special tax rules, such as banks, insurance companies, dealers in securities or currencies, persons that mark-to-market their securities, tax exempt entities, tax-deferred or other retirement accounts, persons subject to the alternative minimum tax, persons that do not hold notes or common stock issued upon conversion thereof as capital assets within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, referred to in this prospectus as the Code, persons that hold notes as a position in a straddle or as part of a hedging, constructive sale or conversion transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or U.S. Holders (as defined herein) that have a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar.

For purposes of this discussion, a U.S. Holder means a beneficial owner of notes that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

- an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States.
- a corporation, or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia,
- an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source or
- a trust the administration of which is subject to the primary supervision of a court in the United States and for which one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions.

The term U.S. Holder also includes certain former citizens and residents of the United States.

If a partnership holds notes, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner generally will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partners of partnerships that will hold notes should consult their tax advisors.

As used herein, a Non-U.S. Holder is a beneficial owner of notes that is not a U.S. Holder.

This summary is based on currently existing provisions of the Code, Treasury Department regulations promulgated under the Code, and judicial and administrative interpretations thereof, all as in effect on the date hereof and all of which are subject to change, which change may be retroactive and may affect the tax consequences described herein.

This discussion is not intended to constitute a complete analysis of all tax considerations relevant to an investment in the notes or the common stock issuable upon conversion thereof. It does not take into account the individual circumstances of any particular prospective investor, nor does it address any aspect of estate or gift tax laws or of state, local or foreign tax laws. We strongly urge a prospective purchaser or a holder to consult its own tax advisor for advice concerning the application of the U.S. federal income tax laws to its particular situation, as well as any tax consequences arising under state, local or foreign tax laws.

U.S. Holders

Interest Income and Original Issue Discount

Because the notes were sold at a discount, the notes were issued with original issue discount, or OID. Accordingly, subject to the discussion of acquisition premium below, a U.S. Holder will be required to include the amount of the OID in income periodically over the term of the notes as it accrues using a

constant yield method based on the compounding of interest and irrespective of such holder s general method of tax accounting.

The amount of OID with respect to a note is equal to the excess of its stated redemption price at maturity over its issue price. Generally, the issue price of a note is the first price at which a substantial amount of notes in the same issue is sold to persons other than bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers. A note s stated redemption price at maturity is the total of all payments on the note that are not payments of qualified stated interest. An interest payment is qualified stated interest if it is one of a series of stated interest payments that are unconditionally payable at least annually at a single fixed rate. Accordingly, stated interest on the notes should constitute qualified stated interest and will be included in the income of a U.S. Holder as ordinary income at the time it is received or accrued, in accordance with such Holder s regular method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes. At the time the notes were issued, we determined that the issue price was 78% of the principal amount at maturity and that, accordingly, the notes were issued with OID of 22% of the principal amount at maturity.

A U.S. Holder of a note must also include in gross income, as interest for United States federal income tax purposes but subject to the discussion of acquisition premium below, the sum of the daily portions of OID with respect to the note for each day during the taxable year or portion of a taxable year in which such Holder holds the note, or accrued OID. The daily portion is determined by allocating to each day of an accrual period a pro rata portion of the OID allocable to that accrual period, which will be equal to the adjusted issue price of the note at the beginning of the accrual period multiplied by the yield to maturity of the note. The adjusted issue price of the note at the start of any accrual period is the issue price of the note increased by the accrued OID for each prior accrual period and decreased by the amount of any payments (other than payments of qualified stated interest) previously made with respect to the note.

A U.S. Holder that purchases a note issued with OID for an amount that is greater than its adjusted issue price as of the purchase date and less than or equal to its stated redemption price at maturity will be considered to have purchased the note at an acquisition premium. Under the acquisition premium rules, the amount of OID that such U.S. Holder must include in its gross income with respect to such note for any taxable year (or portion thereof in which the U.S. Holder holds the note) will be reduced (but not below zero) by the portion of the acquisition premium properly allocable to the period. The allocation is accomplished by multiplying each inclusion of OID by a constant fraction whose numerator is the excess of the adjusted basis of the note immediately after acquisition over the adjusted issued price of the note and whose denominator is the excess of the stated redemption price at maturity over the note s adjusted issue price.

In certain circumstances we may be required to repurchase the notes for their principal amount. See Description of the Notes Purchase at Option of the Holder Upon a Designated Event. Because we are obligated to make such payments under certain circumstances, the notes may be subject to special rules under Treasury regulations that are applicable to debt instruments that provide for one or more contingent payments. Under the Treasury regulations, however, the special rules applicable to contingent payment debt instruments will not apply if, as of the issue date, the contingencies are either remote or incidental. We intend to take the position (and this discussion assumes) that such payments are remote or incidental contingencies. Based on the foregoing, holders will include OID in income in accordance with the rules described above. Our determination that such payments are remote or incidental contingencies for these purposes is binding on each Holder, unless such Holder discloses in the proper manner to the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, that it is taking a different position. The IRS, however, will not be bound by this determination and may assert the notes are subject to the rules applicable to contingent payment debt instruments, including the mandatory accrual of interest in accordance with those rules and the possible characterization of any gain realized on the taxable disposition of a note as ordinary income rather than capital gain.

We intend to take the position and this discussion also assumes that a U.S. Holder of a note should be required to report additional interest, if any, as ordinary income for U.S. federal income tax purposes at the time it accrues or is received in accordance with the U.S. Holder s regular method of accounting. See Description of Notes Registration Rights of the Noteholders. It is possible, however, that the IRS may take a contrary position, in which case the timing, character and amount of income or gain may be different. Again, our determination in this regard is binding on each U.S. Holder unless such holder explicitly discloses in the proper manner to the IRS that it is taking a different position. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors concerning the treatment of additional interest paid by us.

Sale, Exchange or Retirement of Notes

A U.S. Holder s adjusted tax basis in the note generally will be the Holder s purchase price for such note increased by any accrued OID (or as discussed below, any market discount) previously included in income with respect to the note and reduced by any payments previously received with respect to the note (other than payments of qualified stated interest) and any amortized bond premium as discussed below. A U.S. Holder generally will recognize gain or loss on the sale, exchange (other than conversion) or retirement of a note equal to the difference between the amount realized on the disposition, excluding any amounts attributable to accrued but unpaid interest (which will be taxable as such), and the U.S. Holder s tax basis in the note. Subject to the market discount rules discussed below under Market Discount and Bond Premium, this gain or loss will be capital gain or loss and will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder has held the note for more than one year and otherwise will be short-term capital gain or loss. Long-term capital gains of individuals are currently subject to U.S. federal income tax at preferential rates. Short-term capital gains are taxed at rates applicable to ordinary income. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Market Discount and Bond Premium

If a U.S. Holder purchases a note for an amount less than its adjusted issue price as of the purchase date, the difference will be treated as market discount. Under the market discount rules, such Holder will be required, subject to a *de minimis* exception, to treat any gain on the sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition of the note as ordinary income to the extent of the market discount that has not previously been included in income and that is treated as having accrued on such note at the time of such payment or disposition. If a note with accrued market discount is converted into common stock pursuant to the conversion feature, the amount of such accrued market discount not previously included in income generally will be taxable as ordinary income upon disposition of the common stock. In addition, a U.S. Holder may be required to defer, until the maturity of the note or its earlier disposition in a taxable transaction, the deduction of all or a portion of the interest expense on any indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry the note.

Any market discount will be considered to accrue ratably during the period from the date of acquisition to the maturity date of the note, unless a U.S. Holder elects to accrue under a constant yield method. Such Holder may elect to include market discount in income currently as it accrues (on either a ratable or constant yield method), in which case the rule described above regarding deferral of interest deductions will not apply. This election to include market discount in income currently, once made, applies to all market discount obligations acquired by a U.S. Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which the election applies and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

If you purchase a note for an amount in excess of its principal amount, plus accrued interest, you generally may elect to amortize that premium from the purchase date to the note s maturity date under a constant yield method. Amortizable premium, however, will not include any premium attributable to the value of a note s conversion feature. Amortizable premium can only offset interest income on a note and may not be deducted against other income. An election to amortize premium on a constant yield method,

once made, generally applies to all debt obligations held or subsequently acquired by such Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which the election applies and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

The rules regarding market discount and amortizable premium are complex, and U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding these rules.

Conversion of the Notes

A U.S. Holder generally will not recognize any income, gain or loss upon conversion of a note into common stock except with respect to cash received in lieu of a fractional share of common stock. Cash received in lieu of a fractional share upon conversion will be treated as a payment in exchange for the fractional share of common stock. Accordingly, the receipt of cash in lieu of a fractional share of common stock generally will result in capital gain or loss (measured by the difference between the cash received for the fractional share and the Holder s adjusted tax basis in the fractional share).

A U.S. Holder s tax basis in the common stock received on conversion of a note will be the same as such Holder s adjusted tax basis in the note at the time of conversion (reduced by any basis allocable to a fractional share interest), and the holding period for the common stock received on conversion will generally include the holding period of the note converted.

Constructive Dividends

If at any time we were to make a distribution of property to our stockholders that would be taxable to the stockholders as a dividend for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, in accordance with the antidilution provisions of the notes, the conversion rate of the notes were increased, such increase might be deemed to be the payment of a taxable dividend to Holders of the notes. For example, an increase in the conversion rate in the event of distributions of our evidences of indebtedness, or assets, or an increase in the event of cash dividends may result in deemed dividend treatment to Holders of the notes, but, generally, an increase in the event of stock dividends or the distribution of rights to subscribe for common stock would not be so treated. In addition, in some circumstances, an adjustment, or the failure to provide for an adjustment on the conversion rate of the notes, may result in taxable dividend income to the holders of common stock.

Distributions on Common Stock

We have never paid any dividends and do not anticipate paying dividends for the foreseeable future. If we were to make any distributions on our common stock after a conversion, they would generally be treated as a dividend to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, calculated for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits would be treated as a nontaxable return of capital that reduced the U.S. Holder s basis in the common stock until the basis had been reduced to zero, and thereafter as capital gain. Dividends received by a corporate U.S. Holder may qualify for a dividends-received deduction, dividends received by an individual may currently qualify for preferential rates of taxation; however, in each case, certain holding period requirements and other limitations may apply.

Sale, Exchange or Redemption of Common Stock

Upon the sale, exchange or redemption of common stock, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount of cash and the fair market value of any property received upon the sale or exchange and such U.S. Holder s adjusted tax basis in the common stock. Such capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder s holding period in common stock is more than one year and otherwise will be short-term gain or loss. Long-term capital gains

of individuals currently are subject to U.S. federal income tax at preferential rates. Short-term capital gains are taxed at rates applicable to ordinary income. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Non-U.S. Holders

Interest Income and Original Issue Discount

Interest on notes paid to a Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless (i) the interest or OID is effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Holder of a U.S. trade or business (and, if required under an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained in the United States by the Non-U.S. Holder), (ii) the Non-U.S. Holder owns, actually, indirectly or constructively, 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote, is a controlled foreign corporation related, directly or indirectly, to us through stock ownership or is a bank which acquired the notes in consideration for an extension of credit made pursuant to a loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course of business or (iii) the Non-U.S. Holder fails to certify its nonresident status (as described below).

Except to the extent that an applicable income tax treaty otherwise provides, generally a Non-U.S. Holder will be taxed in the same manner as a U.S. Holder with respect to interest and OID that is effectively connected with the Non-U.S. Holder s conduct of a U.S. trade or business. A corporate Non-U.S. Holder may also, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30 percent rate (or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty) on any effectively connected interest and OID on the notes.

To certify its nonresident status, a Non-U.S. Holder may provide an IRS Form W-8BEN (or appropriate substitute form) to us or our paying agent. If a Non-U.S. Holder holds the notes through a financial institution or other agent acting on the Holder s behalf, the Non-U.S. Holder will be required to provide appropriate documentation to the agent. The agent will then be required to provide certification to us or our paying agent, either directly or through other intermediaries. If a Non-U.S. Holder is engaged in a U.S. trade or business, it will be required to provide to the withholding agent a properly executed IRS Form W-8ECI (or appropriate substitute form) in lieu of the certification of nonresident status to avoid withholding tax. Non-U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors concerning certification requirements.

Sale, Exchange, Conversion or Redemption of the Notes or Common Stock

Gain recognized by a Non-U.S. Holder on the sale, exchange (including conversion) or retirement of notes will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless (i) the gain is effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Holder of a U.S. trade or business (and, if required under an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained in the United States by the Non-U.S. Holder), (ii) in the case of gain recognized by a Non-U.S. Holder who is an individual, he or she is present in the United States for a total of 183 days or more during the taxable year in which such gain is recognized and certain other conditions are met or (iii) in certain circumstances, if we are, or have been, a U.S. real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We do not believe that we are currently a U.S. real property holding corporation or that we will become one in the future.

Except to the extent that an applicable income tax treaty otherwise provides, generally a Non-U.S. Holder will be taxed in the same manner as a U.S. Holder with respect to gain that is effectively connected with the Non-U.S. Holder s conduct of a U.S. trade or business. A corporate Non-U.S. Holder may also, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30 percent rate (or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty) on any effectively connected gain on the notes.

Distributions on Common Stock

Distributions, if any, made on our common stock after a conversion generally will be treated as a dividend to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, calculated for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Dividends paid on common stock held by a Non-U.S. Holder generally will be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a 30% rate, unless an applicable U.S. income tax treaty provides for the reduction or elimination of such withholding tax or the dividends are effectively connected with the Non-U.S. Holder s conduct of a U.S. trade or business. A Non-U.S. Holder generally will be required to provide an IRS Form W-8BEN (or appropriate substitute form) to claim a reduction or exemption from withholding.

Except to the extent that an applicable income tax treaty otherwise provides, generally a Non-U.S. Holder will be taxed in the same manner as a U.S. Holder with respect to dividends that are effectively connected with the Non-U.S. Holder s conduct of a U.S. trade or business. A corporate Non-U.S. Holder may also, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30 percent rate (or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty) on any effectively connected dividends.

Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits will be treated as a nontaxable return of capital that reduces the U.S. Holder s basis in the common stock until the basis has been reduced to zero, and thereafter as capital gain. Such capital gain will generally not be taxable to a Non-U.S. Holder except under the circumstances described above relating to the sale, exchange, conversion or redemption of the notes or common stock.

A Non-U.S. Holder deemed to have received a constructive dividend in respect of a change in the conversion rate of the notes generally will be subject to the rules relating to the U.S. federal income tax treatment of dividends described herein. Any resulting withholding may be made on subsequent payments of interest and principal on the notes.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding Tax

U.S. Holders

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to the accrual of OID, payments on the notes (including payments of qualified stated interest and with respect to OID), payments of dividends on the common stock and payments of the proceeds of the sale of the notes or common stock. A backup withholding tax may apply to such payments if the U.S. Holder fails to supply an accurate taxpayer identification number or otherwise fails to comply with applicable certification requirements. Backup withholding is currently imposed at a rate of 28 percent. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a holder will be allowed as a credit against such holder s United States federal income tax and may entitle the holder to a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

Non-U.S. Holders

Generally, we must report annually to the IRS and to each Non-U.S. Holder the amount of OID accrued and the amount of interest and dividends paid to such holder (including payments with respect to OID) and the tax withheld with respect to those payments (if any). Copies of the information returns reporting such OID accruals and interest and dividend payments (including payments with respect to OID) and any withholding may also be made available to the tax authorities in the country in which the Non-U.S. Holder resides under the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty. United States backup withholding tax will not apply to payments to a Non U.S. Holder if the certification requirements described under Non U.S. Holders Interest Income and Original Issue Discount above are satisfied with respect

to the Holder unless the payor has actual knowledge or reason to know that the holder is a United States person.

Information reporting requirements and backup withholding tax will not apply to any payment of the proceeds of the sale of notes or common stock effected outside the United States by a foreign office of a broker as defined in applicable Treasury regulations, unless such broker (i) is a United States person as defined in the Code, (ii) is a foreign person that derives 50 percent or more of its gross income for certain periods from the conduct of a trade or business in the United States, (iii) is a controlled foreign corporation for United States federal income tax purposes or (iv) is a foreign partnership with certain U.S. connections. Payment of the proceeds of any such sale effected outside the United States by a foreign office of any broker that is described in the preceding sentence may be subject to information reporting (but not backup withholding), unless such broker has documentary evidence in its records that the beneficial owner is a Non-U.S. Holder and certain other conditions are met, or the beneficial owner otherwise establishes an exemption. Payment of the proceeds of any such sale to or through the United States office of a broker is subject to information reporting and backup withholding requirements unless the beneficial owner satisfies the certification requirements described under Non U.S. Holders Interest Income and Original Issue Discount above and certain other conditions are met, or the beneficial owner otherwise establishes an exemption.

SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS

We originally issued the notes in a private placement to Piper Jaffray & Co., as the initial purchaser, in September 2006 pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. The notes were resold by the initial purchaser to qualified institutional buyers under Rule 144A under the Securities Act. Those purchasers may have made subsequent transfers of the notes to purchasers that are qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A. We have no knowledge whether the selling securityholders listed below received the notes on the initial distribution or through subsequent transfers after the close of the initial private placement. Selling securityholders, including their transferees, distributes, donees, pledgees, other successors-in-interest or their successors, may offer and sell the notes and the underlying common stock pursuant to this prospectus.

The following table sets forth information as of November 20, 2006 regarding the principal amount of notes and the underlying common stock, beneficially owned by each selling securityholder, that may be offered using this prospectus. Information with respect to beneficial ownership is based upon information provided by or on behalf of the selling securityholders.

Unless otherwise described below, to our knowledge, no selling securityholder nor any of its affiliates has held any position or office with, been employed by or otherwise has had any material relationship with us or our affiliates during the three years prior to the date of this prospectus.

A selling securityholder may offer all, some or none of the notes and shares of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes. Accordingly, no estimate can be given as to the amount or percentage of notes or our common stock that will be held by the selling securityholders upon termination of sales pursuant to this prospectus. In addition, the selling securityholders identified below may have sold, transferred or disposed of all or a portion of their notes since the date on which they provided the information regarding their holdings in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Information about the selling securityholders may change over time. Changed information will be set forth in supplements to this prospectus or amendments to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, if and as required.

Name			Bene Own	cipal ount of Notes eficially ned that may offered (\$)	Perce Notes Outs	s	e of ng (%	Sh Co Be	umber of nares of ommon Stock eneficially wned	Sh Co th:	nmber of ares of ommon Stock at may be fered(1)	Percer Comm Outsta	on St	
Akanthos A	Arbitrage M	laster Fund, L.P.		1,000,000		*			1,470,785		89,138		1.7	%
Alexandra	Global Ma	ster Fund Ltd.(3)		10,000,000		6.6	%		891,385		891,385		1.1	%
CNH CA Master Account, L.P.(4)		ount, L.P.(4)		1,000,000		*			89,138		89,138		*	
DBAG Lor	ndon(5)			8,674,000		5.7	%		773,187		773,187		*	
Forest Glob L.P.(6)	oal Convert	ible Master Fund		1,199,000		*			106,877		106,877		*	
Forest Muli SPC(6)	ti Strategy	Master Fund		58,000		*			5,170		5,170		*	
HFR CA G Trust(6)	lobal Oppo	ortunity Master		540,000		*			48,134		48,134		*	
HFR RVA Trust(6)	Select Perf	Formance Master		94,000		*			8,379		8,379		*	

Institutional Benchmarks Master					
Fund Ltd.(6)	241,000	*	21,482	21,482	*
Kamunting Street Capital					
Management, L.P.	4,000,000	2.6 %	356,554	356,554	*
Linden Capital L.P.	5,000,000	3.3 %	445,692	445,692	*
LLT Limited(7)	258,000	*	22,997	22,997	*
Luxor/Forest Fund					
Limited(6)	1,610,000	1.1 %	143,512	143,512	*
Mohican VCA Master Fund, Ltd.(8)	2,000,000	1.3 %	401,123	178,277	*
Wolverine Convertible Arbitrage					
Fund Trading Limited(9)	12,500,000	8.2 %	1,114,231	1,114,231	1.3 %
Any other selling securityholder or					
future transferee from any such					
holder(10)					

^{*} Less than 1%.

- (1) Assumes conversion of all of the holder s notes at a conversion rate of 89.1385 shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of notes. However, this conversion rate will be subject to adjustment as described under Description of Notes Conversion of Notes. As a result, the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes may increase or decrease in the future.
- (2) Calculated based on Rule 13d-3(i), using 83,855,064 shares of common stock outstanding as of October 27, 2006. In calculating the amount for each holder, we treated as outstanding the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of all of that holder s notes, but we did not assume conversion of any other notes.
- Alexandra Investment Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (Alexandra), serves as investment advisor to the selling securityholder, Alexandra Global Master Fund Ltd (Alexandra Global). By reason of such relationship, Alexandra may be deemed to share dispositive power or investment control over the securities stated as beneficially owned by Alexandra Global. Alexandra disclaims beneficial ownership of such securities. Mikhail A. Filimonov (Filimonov) is a managing member of Alexandra. By reason of such relationship, Filimonov may be deemed to share dispositive power of investment control over the shares of common stock stated as beneficially owned by Alexandra Global. Filimonov disclaims beneficial ownership of such securities.
- (4) CNH Partners, LLC (Advisors) is an investment advisor of the selling securityholder and has sole voting and dispositive power over the securities registered in this prospectus. Investment principals for the Advisor are Robert Krail, Mark Mitchell and Todd Pulvino.
- (5) The selling securityholder is an affiliate of a registered broker-dealer.
- (6) Forest Investment Management, LLC exercises voting power and investment control over these securities. Forest Investment Management, LLC is wholly owned by Forest Partners II, L.P., the sole general partner of which is Michael A. Boyd Inc. Michael A. Boyd Inc. is controlled by Michael A. Boyd.

- (7) Forest Investment Management LP (Forest) has sole voting control and shared investment control over these securities. Forest is wholly owned by Forest Partners II, L.P., the sole general partner of which is Michael A. Boyd Inc. Michael A. Boyd Inc. is controlled by Michael A. Boyd.
- (8) Eric Hage and Daniel Hage share voting power and investment control over these securities.
- (9) Rob Bellick is the general partner of the selling securityholder and exercises sole voting and investment control over these securities.
- (10) We are unable to provide the names of certain holders of notes and/or our shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes at this time because they have not provided us with information and/or their notes are evidenced by a global note that has been deposited with DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as DTC s nominee. Information concerning any such holders who are not listed in the above table will be set forth in supplements to this prospectus or amendments to the registration statement from time to time, if and when required.

Assumes that any other holder of notes or any future transferee from any such holder does not beneficially own any shares of our common stock other than the shares issuable upon conversion of the notes at the initial conversion rate.

If, after the date of this prospectus, a securityholder notifies us pursuant to the registration rights agreement of its intent to dispose of notes pursuant to the registration statement, we may supplement this prospectus or amend the registration statement to include that information. With respect to any securityholder who acquires notes after the effectiveness of this registration statement, we may supplement this prospectus or amend the registration statement to add that securityholder to the foregoing table.

None of the selling securityholders who are affiliates of broker-dealers purchased the securities outside of the ordinary course of business or, at the time of the purchase of the securities, had any agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the securities.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We will not receive any of the proceeds of the sale of the notes and the underlying common stock offered by this prospectus. The notes and the underlying common stock may be sold from time to time to purchasers:

- directly by the selling securityholders; or
- through underwriters, broker-dealers or agents who may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the selling securityholders or the purchasers of the notes and the underlying common stock.

The selling securityholders and any such broker-dealers or agents who participate in the distribution of the notes and the underlying common stock may be deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act. As a result, any profits on the sale of the underlying common stock by selling securityholders and any discounts, commissions or concessions received by any such broker-dealers or agents might be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. If the selling securityholders are deemed to be underwriters, the selling securityholders may be subject to certain statutory liabilities as underwriters under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act.

If the notes and the underlying common stock are sold through underwriters or broker-dealers, the selling securityholders will be responsible for underwriting discounts or commissions or agent s commissions.

The notes and the underlying common stock may be sold in one or more transactions at:

- fixed prices;
- prevailing market prices at the time of sale;
- varying prices determined at the time of sale; or
- negotiated prices.

These sales may be effected in transactions:

- on any national securities exchange or quotation service on which the notes and underlying common stock may be listed or quoted at the time of the sale, including the Nasdaq Global Market in the case of the common stock;
- in the over-the-counter market:
- in transactions otherwise than on such exchanges or services or in the over-the-counter market; or
- through the writing of options.

These transactions may include block transactions or crosses. Crosses are transactions in which the same broker acts as an agent on both sides of the trade.

In connection with the sales of the notes and the underlying common stock or otherwise, the selling securityholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers. These broker-dealers may in turn engage in short sales of the notes and the underlying common stock in the course of hedging their positions. The selling securityholders may also sell the notes and the underlying common stock short and deliver notes and the underlying common stock to close out short positions, or loan or pledge notes and the underlying common stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell the notes and the underlying common stock.

To our knowledge, there are currently no plans, arrangements or understandings between any selling securityholders and any underwriter, broker-dealer or agent regarding the sale of the notes and the

underlying common stock by the selling securityholders. We cannot assure you that any selling securityholder will sell any or all of the notes or the underlying common stock offered by them pursuant to this prospectus. Any notes or underlying common stock covered by this prospectus that qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 or Rule 144A of the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 or Rule 144A rather than pursuant to this prospectus. In addition, we cannot assure you that any selling securityholder will not transfer, devise or gift the notes and the underlying common stock by other means not described in this prospectus.

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol INCY. We do not intend to apply for listing of the notes on any securities exchange or for quotation on a quotation service, including the NASDAQ Global Market. Accordingly, no assurance can be given as to the development of liquidity or any trading market for the notes.

The selling securityholders and any other person participating in such distribution will be subject to the Exchange Act. The Exchange Act rules include, without limitation, Regulation M, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of any of the notes and the underlying common stock by the selling securityholders and any such other person. In addition, Regulation M of the Exchange Act may restrict the ability of any person engaged in the distribution of the notes and the underlying common stock being distributed for a period of up to five business days prior to the commencement of such distribution. This may affect the marketability of the notes and the underlying common stock and the ability of any person or entity to engage in market-making activities with respect to the notes and the underlying common stock.

Any selling securityholder who is a broker-dealer may be deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act. To our knowledge, DBAG London is the only selling securityholder that is a registered broker-dealer or that is an affiliate of a registered broker-dealer and, as such, this broker-dealer or broker-dealer affiliate may be an underwriter of the notes and of the underlying common stock within the meaning of the Securities Act. We do not have a material relationship with DBAG London, and it does not have the right to designate or nominate a member or members of our board of directors. This security holder purchased its notes in the open market, not directly from us, and we are not aware of any underwriting plan or agreement, underwriters—or dealers—compensation, or passive market making or stabilizing transactions involving the purchase or distribution of these securities by this securityholder.

This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities the selling securityholders may offer. Each time any selling securityholders sell securities, we will provide or make available this prospectus or, if necessary, a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that offering. A prospectus supplement may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. If there is any inconsistency between the information in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement, you should rely on the information in the applicable prospectus supplement. You should read both this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement, together with additional information described under the heading Where You Can Find More Information.

Pursuant to the registration rights agreement that has been incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, we and the selling securityholders will each indemnify the other against specified liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or will be entitled to contribution in connection with these liabilities. Under the registration rights agreement, we have also agreed to pay substantially all of the expenses incidental to the registration, offering and sale of the notes and the underlying common stock to the public other than commissions, fees and discounts of underwriters, brokers, dealers and agents.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of notes and common stock offered by this prospectus are being passed upon for us by Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP, San Francisco, California and New York, New York.

EXPERTS

Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our consolidated financial statements and schedule included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, and management s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, as set forth in their reports, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in this registration statement. Our financial statements and schedule and management s assessment are incorporated by reference in reliance on Ernst & Young LLP s reports, given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements, and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may read and copy any materials we file with the Commission at the Commission s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330 for more information on its public reference room. The Commission also maintains an Internet website at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the Commission.

We have filed with the Commission a registration statement that contains this prospectus on Form S-3 under the Securities Act. The registration statement relates to the notes and the common stock issuable on conversion of the notes offered by the selling securityholders. This prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and the exhibits and schedules to the registration statement. Please refer to the registration statement and its exhibits and schedules for further information with respect to the Company, the notes and the common stock. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document are not necessarily complete and, in each instance, we refer you to the copy of that contract or document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement. You may read and obtain a copy of the registration statement and its exhibits and schedules from the Commission, as described in the preceding paragraph.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The Commission allows us to incorporate by reference the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be a part of this prospectus, and later information that we file with the Commission will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below:

- Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.
- Our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006.
- Our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on February 6, 2006, February 16, 2006, March 16, 2006, April 3, 2006, May 25, 2006, September 19, 2006, September 21, 2006 and September 28, 2006 (other than, in each case, any information furnished in any such filings pursuant to Items 2.02 and 7.01 and any related exhibits).
- The description of our common stock contained in our registration statement on Form 8-A filed under the Exchange Act on January 5, 1996.
- The description of our Series A Participating Preferred Stock Purchase Rights contained in the registration statement on Form 8-A filed under the Exchange Act on September 30, 1998.

In addition, all filings we make with the Commission under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date of the initial registration statement and prior to effectiveness of the registration statement shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any future filings we will make with the Commission under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act prior to the sale of all the securities covered by this prospectus (other than, in each case, any information furnished in any such filings pursuant to Items 2.02 and 7.01 of Form 8-K and any related exhibits) will also be incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

You may request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address and number:

Investor Relations Incyte Corporation Experimental Station Route 141 & Henry Clay Road Building E336 Wilmington, DE 19880 (302) 498-6700

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

The following table sets forth the various expenses payable by the registrant in connection with the sale and distribution of the securities being registered hereby. Normal commission expenses and brokerage fees are payable individually by the selling securityholders. All amounts are estimated except the SEC registration fee.

	Amount
SEC registration fee	\$ 16,243
Printing and engraving costs	35,000
Accounting fees and expenses	76,000
Legal fees and expenses	50,000
Trustee and transfer agent fees and expenses	10,000
Miscellaneous	1,000
Total	\$ 188,243

Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law provides for the indemnification of officers, directors, and other corporate agents in terms sufficiently broad to indemnify such persons under certain circumstances for liabilities (including reimbursement for expenses incurred) arising under the Securities Act. Article VII of the Registrant s Integrated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhibit 3(i)(a) to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and Article V of the Registrant s Bylaws (Exhibit 3(ii) to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003) provide for indemnification of the Registrant s directors, officers, employees and other agents to the extent and under the circumstances permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law. The Registrant has also entered into agreements with its directors and officers that will require the Registrant, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers to the fullest extent not prohibited by law.

Item 16. Exhibits

Exhibit Number 4.1	Description of Document Indenture, dated as of September 26, 2006, between the registrant and U.S. Bank National Association, including the form of Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 28, 2006).
4.2	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 26, 2006, between the registrant and Piper Jaffray & Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 28, 2006).
5.1	Opinion of Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP.
12.1	Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
23.1	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
23.2	Consent of Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP (included in its opinion filed as Exhibit 5.1 to this Registration Statement).
24.1	Power of Attorney (see page II-4).
25.1	Statement of Eligibility and Qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 of a Corporation Designated to Act as a Trustee on Form T-1.

Item 17. Undertakings

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to the registration statement:
- (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
- (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in this registration statement; and
- (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in this registration statement or any material change to such information in this registration statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic reports filed by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act that are incorporated by reference in this registration statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.

- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (4) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, (A) each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and (B) each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.
- That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the registrant s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act that is

incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question of whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Wilmington, State of Delaware, on November 21, 2006.

INCYTE CORPORATION

By

/s/ PAUL A. FRIEDMAN

Paul A. Friedman

President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby severally constitutes and appoints Paul A. Friedman, David C. Hastings and Patricia A. Schreck, and each of them individually, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full powers to each of them to sign for us, in our names and in the capacities indicated below, this Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and any and all amendments to said Registration Statement (including post-effective amendments), in connection with the registration under the Securities Act of 1933, of securities of the Registrant, and to file or cause to be filed the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as each of them might or could do in person, and hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, or their substitute or substitutes, shall do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney. This Power of Attorney may be executed in counterparts and all capacities to sign any and all amendments.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ PAUL A. FRIEDMAN	President and Chief Executive Officer	November 21, 2006
Paul A. Friedman	(Principal Executive Officer) and Director	
/s/ DAVID C. HASTINGS	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial	November 21, 2006
David C. Hastings	Officer (Principal Financial Officer)	
/s/ LAURENT CHARDONNET	Vice President of Finance and Treasurer	November 21, 2006
Laurent Chardonnet	(Principal Accounting Officer)	
/s/ RICHARD U. DE SCHUTTER	Chairman of the Board	November 21, 2006
Richard U. De Schutter		
/s/ BARRY M. ARIKO	Director	November 21, 2006
Barry M. Ariko		

/s/ JULIAN C. BAKER	Director	November 21, 2006
Julian C. Baker		
/s/ PAUL A. BROOKE	Director	November 21, 2006
Paul A. Brooke		
/s/ MATTHEW W. EMMENS	Director	November 21, 2006
Matthew W. Emmens		
	Director	
John F. Niblack, Ph.D.		
	Director	
Roy A. Whitfield		

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Description of Document
4.1	Indenture, dated as of September 26, 2006, between the registrant and U.S. Bank National Association,
	including the form of Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant s Current Report on
	Form 8-K filed on September 28, 2006).
4.2	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 26, 2006, between the registrant and Piper Jaffray &
	Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
	September 28, 2006).
5.1	Opinion of Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP.
12.1	Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
23.1	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
23.2	Consent of Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP (included in its opinion filed as Exhibit 5.1 to the
	Registration Statement).
24.1	Power of Attorney (see page II-4).
25.1	Statement of Eligibility and Qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 of a Corporation Designated
	to Act as a Trustee on Form T-1.
п-6	
11 0	